Identification of A Novel Protein Associated with β-Dystroglycan in Brain

By

Yougen Zhan

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery McGill University Montreal, Quebec

August 2001

Copy right@Yougen zhan, 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-78981-0

Canadä

ABSTRACT

The dystroglycans, α and β -dystroglycan, form the functional core of the dystrophin glycoprotein complex in skeletal muscle. β -dystroglycan is associated with dystrophin inside the cell, and α -dystroglycan binds to laminin outside the cell, thus dystroglycan serves as a transmembrane linkage between the intracellular cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix. Disruption of dystroglycan gene leads to muscular dystrophy in mice. Dystroglycan has also been implicated in maturation and maintenance of neuromuscular junctions (NMJ). In muscle fibers with reduced levels of dystroglycan, postsynaptic acetylcholine receptor clusters can form, but they are less dense and unstable. In the central nervous system, however, the role of dystroglycan is unknown. It is expressed by astrocytes, epithelial cells of blood-brain barrier, Purkinje cells of cerebellum and in the outer plexiform layer of retina. Many questions remain unanswered, such as: Does dystroglycan have any role in neuronal synapses as in neuromuscular junctions? Are there novel interacting proteins with dystroglycan that might give it new functions? To address these questions, rabbit antisera against last 15 amino acids of β -dystroglycan were raised. The affinity-purified antisera were tested by western blots and they recognize only a 43 kD dystroglycan band in brain extracts. Immunocytochemical methods were used to determine if dystroglycan is expressed in

cultured rat hippocampal neurons. The data have shown that dystroglycan is expressed in cell bodies, dendrites and axons and forms clusters at some dendritic spines and along the shafts. Immunoaffinity purification revealed that β -dystroglycan is associated with α dystroglycan in rat hippocampus, but association with all isoforms of dystrophin and utrophin are undetectable. In Coomassie-blue stained and silver stained gels, in addition to the 43 kilodalton (kD) of β -dystroglycan band, a band of about 100 kD was also found. The molecular weight of this band does not match any of the proteins known to interact with β -dystroglycan directly, nor any members of dystrophin glycoprotein complex, and we are currently exploring the interaction of this protein with β -dystroglycan. Together, these results suggest that β -dystroglycan is a neuronal protein that complexes with α dystroglycan and is present at synapses, and that there are interacting proteins in brain which are different from muscle, thus giving us possibility to dissect new functions of dystroglycan in brain.

Résumé

Les dystrogleans, α et β -dystroglycan, forment le noyau fonctionnel du complexe glycoprotéinique de dystrophine dans le muscle squelettique. B-dystroglycan est associé avec la dystrophine à l'intérieur de la cellule et α -dystroglycan se lie à la laminine à l'exteriéur de la cellule, créant ainsi un complexe qui relie la matrice extracellulaire au cytosquelette intracellulaire. Une altération du gène des dystroglycans mène à la dystrophie musculaire dans la souris. Les dystoglycans ont aussi été impliqués dans la maturation et le maintien des jonctions neuromusculaires. Dans les fibres musculaires avec des niveaux réduits de dystroglycans, des aggrégats de récepteurs d'acétylcholine postsynaptique peuvent encore se former, cependant ces aggrégats sont plus petits, plus instables et plus dispersés à travers la membrane. Dans le système nerveux central, les dystroglycans sont exprimés par les astrocytes, les cellules épitheliales de la barrière hémato-meningée, les cellules Purkinje du cervelet et dans la couche extérieure plétiforme de la rétine. Cependant, plusieurs questions concernant leurs fonctions demeurent. Les Dystroglycans ont-ils un rôle dans les synapses neuronales semblable à celui dans les jonctions neuromusculaires? Ya-t-il de nouvelles protéines qui interagissent avec les dystroglycans leur fournissant de nouvelles fonctions? Pour adresser ces questions, de l'anti-sérum de lapin contre les derniers quinze acides aminés de β-dystroglycan a été produit. Le western blot de tissu cérébral utilisant l'anti-sérum purifié par affinité démontre qu'une bande de 43 kDa correspondant à la β-dystroglycan. L'immunocytochimie avec cet anticorps a demontré que le dystroglycan est exprimé dans les cultures de neuron de l'hippocampe de rat. Ces résultats montrent que β-dystroglycan est localisé dans les corps cellulaires et les dendrites. Dans ces derniers, il forme de petits aggrégats dans les épines et le long du tronc. La purification par immunoaffinité a révélé que β -dystroglycan est associé avec α -dystroglycan dans l'hippocamp du rat, mais que

tous les isoformes de dystrophine et utrophine sont indétectables. Les gels teinté au bleu de Coomassie ou à l'argent démontrent la présence d'une protéine de 100 kD en plus de celle de 43 kDa du β -dystroglycan. Le poids moléculaire de cette protéine ne correspond à aucune protéine connue pour intéragir directement avec β -dystroglycan, ni à aucun autre membre du complex glycoproteinique de la dystrophine. Ensemble, ces résultats suggèrent que β -dystroglycan est une protéine localisé dans les neurons qui forme un complexe avec α -dystroglycan et d'autres partenaires différents de ceux qui se trouvent dans le tissu musculaire. Ces résultats permettront a de révéler de nouvelles fonctions des dystroglycans dans le système nerveux central.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Salvatore Carbonetto for his guidance and patience throughout my studies.

I especially thank Dr. Peter McPherson for his encouragement and suggestions as my advisory committee members.

I wish to thank Dr. Mike Ferns for his advice throughout the study as my advisory committee member.

My sincere gratitude is also expressed to the following people:

Dr. Bharatkumar N. Patel for his kind helps on coupling antibody to the affi-gel 10 column. Dr. Christian Jacobson for his help in making rabbit antisera and all members in Dr. Carbonetto's lab for their technical help and providing friendly environment including Mathieu Lemaire, Patrice Cote, Hakima Moukhles, Ramin Raouf, Matt Tremblay, Nadia Melian, and Joe Babity.

Table of Contents

1

Chapter 1:Literature Review

Part I: Muscular Dystrophy and Dystrophin Associated Glycoproteins	2
I: Muscular Dystrophy	2
II: Dystrophin Associated Protein Complex	4
1: Dystrophin and its Isoforms	5
2: Syntrophin and Dystrobrevin	11
3: Sarcoglycans and Sarcospan	14
4: Dystroglycan	16
Part II: Dystroglycan Interacting Proteins	19
Laminin	19
Agrin	20
Perlecan and Biglycan	
Rapsyn	22
Grb2	23
Dystrophin and Utrophin	24
Caveolin 3	25
Part III: Dystroglycan and the DPC in the Nervous System	27
1: Dystroglycan and DPC at NMJ	27
2: Dystroglycan and DPC in peripheral nerve	28
3: Dystroglycan and DPC in Central Nervous System (CNS)	31
References	36
Chapter 2: The Expression Profile of Dystroglycan in Neurons	. 57
Introduction	58
Materials and Methods	59
Antibodies	59
Immunolocalization in rat brain hippocampal cultures	59
Brain extracts and SDS-PAGE	60
Preparation of anti β -dystroglycan antibodies	61
Results	63
1: Specificity of the polyclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibodies	63
2: β -dystroglycan is distributed in cell bodies, dendrites and axons, and	
present in a punctate pattern in some of these regions of hippocampal	
neurons (10 day) in culture	63

3: In 3 week old hippocampal cultures, dystroglycan expression is reduced in dendrites, and present as puncta, some of which	
colocalize with synaptophysin staining	64
Discussion	65

Chapter 3: Identification of A Novel Dystroglycan Interacting Protein in Brain 67

Introduction		68
Materials and Methods		70
	Preparation of the Immunoaffinity Column	70
	Hippocampal extracts	70
	Immunoaffinity Chromatography	71
	Procedures for Coomassie Blue staining	72
Results 1: Characterization of Immunoaffinity columns 2: Detection of other DPC members 3: Identification of a novel DPC in brain	72	
	1: Characterization of Immunoaffinity columns	72
	2: Detection of other DPC members	73
	3: Identification of a novel DPC in brain	73
Discussion		74
References		76

Chapter 1

Literature Review

Part I: Muscular Dystrophy and Dystrophin Associated Glycoproteins

I: Muscular Dystrophy

The muscular dystrophies are a group of genetically determined muscle disorders marked by progressive wasting and weakness of the skeletal muscle, which often affects cardiac and smooth muscles and other tissues. Among all the muscular dystrophies, Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is the most common, affecting 1 in 3300 boys. DMD leads to severe muscle wasting and eventual death in late teens and early twenties due to cardiac and respiratory failure. Becker Muscular dystrophy (BMD) is a less common and less severe disorder, which affects 1 in 30,000 boys and often has milder clinical symptoms. Both diseases are recessive disorders caused by mutations in a gene located on the short arm of the X chromosome, and this DMD gene, encodes the protein dystrophin whose molecular weight is 427 kDa (2,17). Purification of dystrophin from rabbit skeletal muscle membranes by Kevin Campbell and coworkers (3), led to identification of other proteins that are complexed with dystrophin (3,4,5,6). The dystrophin associated protein complex (DPC) (Figure 1) includes the extracellular matrix protein laminin, the membrane proteins alpha and beta dystroglycans, intracellular proteins syntrophin, dystrobrevin and utrophin, as well as a transmembrane protein complex of sarcoglycans and sarcospan. It is clear now that the primary defects in many muscular dystrophies are mutations in the genes encoding the DPC. As summarized in Table 1, mutations in dystrophin, sarcoglycans, and laminin (alpha2) are responsible for DMD/BMD dystrophy, Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophies, and Congenital Muscle Dystrophy respectively, but no human diseases have been found so far associated with mutations in dystroglycans, syntrophin or dystrobrevin.

In DMD, the protein dystrophin is completely absent whereas in milder BMD the protein is partially lost (7). The limb-girdle muscular dystrophies (LGMD) affect both male and female, and like in DMD and BMD, present clinically with progressive weakness and wasting in the pelvic and shoulder girdle, with elevated serum creatine phosphokinase levels (7). The LGMDs can be classified as LGMD-1 and LGMD-2, which are autosomal dominant and autosomal recessive respectively. The transmembrane sarcoglycans are responsible for the class 2 LGMD (Table 1), and gamma sarcoglycan is responsible for the Severe Childhood Autosomal Recessive Muscular Dystrophy (SCARMD) or LGMD-2C. Typically, the mutations associated with severe LGMD-2C are nonsense mutations that result in a premature stop codon in the gamma sarcoglycan transcript (7). Missense mutations in alpha and beta-sarcoglycans have also been found in severe autosomal recessive muscular dystrophy (LGMD-2D and LGMD-2E) (8,9). Congenital muscular dystrophies encompass several disorders and share common clinical features: neonatal onset of severe weakness, elevated serum creatine phosphokinase levels, and myopathic muscular degeneration. Mutations in the alpha 2-laminin chain, that cause loss expression of laminin alpha2 in muscle basement membranes, are responsible for one form of congenital muscular dystrophy (10).

Those It Chabbilication of the major major opinion (16)
--

Disease	Locus	Protein
X-linked recessive		
Duchenne/Becker dystrophy	Xp21	Dystrophin
Emery-Dreifuss dystrophy	Xp28	Emerin
Autosomal dominant		
Myotonic dystrophy	19q	Myotonin
Facioscapulohumeral dystrophy	4q	?
LGMD-1A	5q	?
LGMD-1B	other	?
Autosomal Recessive		
LGMD-2A	15q	Calpain
LGMD-2B	2p	?
LGMD-2C	13q	gamma-sarcoglycan
LGMD-2D	17q	alpha-sarcoglycan
LGMD-2E	4q	beta-sarcoglycan
LGMD-2F	5q	delta-sarcoglycan
Other		
Congenital muscular dystrophy (AR)	6q	alpha2-laminin
Fukuyama disease (AR)	9q13	?
Central core disease (AD)	19q13	Ryanodine receptor
	14q	Myosoin
Nemaline rod disease (AD)	1q22	Tropomyosin
Myotubular myopathies	Xq26	?
Distal muscular dystrophy (AD)	14q	?
Oculopharyngeal dystrophy (AD)	14q	?

LGMD, Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies; AD, autosomal dominant inheritance; AR, autosomal recessive inheritance

II: Dystrophin Associated Protein Complex

In initial studies to understand muscular dystrophy, dystrophin and the DPC were purified (3,4,5) and cloned (162). By using wheat germ agglutinin (WGA)-sepharose and DEAE-cellulose ion exchange chromatography, the 427 kDa dystrophin protein can be purified from the digitonin solubilized rabbit muscle membrane fractions, together with the purification of 156 kDa, 43 kDa, 59 kDa, 50 kDa, 35 kDa, and 25 kDa proteins (3,4,5,6). These proteins were named alpha-dystroglycan (159 kDa), beta-dystroglycan (43 kDa), syntrophin (59 kDa), alpha-sarcoglycan/adhalin (50 kDa), beta-sarcoglycan (43 kDa), gamma and delta-sarcoglycan (35 kDa), and sarcospan (25 kDa). More recent studies had identified a number of other proteins that comprise the DPC, which include the extracellular basement protein laminin that is associated with alpha-dystroglycan in skeletal muscle (11), the dystrophin and syntrophin binding protein dystrobrevin (144,145), as well as the syntrophin binding protein neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOs) (38). The organization of these proteins in muscle membranes is shown as in Figure 1. Based on detergent solubility and their locations, the DPC can be divided into three sub-complexes: the dystroglycan complex, the sarcoglycan complex, and the intracellular cytoplasmic complex. The dystroglycan complex contains α -dystroglycan and the transmembrane β -dystroglycan. The sarcoglycan complex contains the α -, β -, γ -, δ -sarcoglycans, and sarcospan, but not ϵ -sarcoglycan. The four sarcoglycans are linked to each other and are connected to β -dystroglycan by δ -sarcoglycan within the membrane (147). The cytoplasmic DPC contains the cytoskeletal protein dystrophin, and the dystrophin interacting protein syntrophin as well as dystrobrevin, and the syntrophin interacting protein nNOs. This structure is found around the sarcolemma of skeletal muscle, smooth muscle, and cardiac muscle, and it is critical for muscle integrity.

1: Dystrophin and its Isoforms

Dystrophin gene is a very large, complex gene that spans 2.4 millions base pairs with at least 5 separate promoters and 79 exons in its genomic sequence (13). Alternative splicing results in synthesis of at least seven different dystrophin isoforms. The full-length dystrophin has 3685 amino acids with molecular weight of 427 kDa. Two internal promoters drive production of shorter C-terminal dystrophins that include Dp260, Dp140, Dp116, and Dp71 (Figure 2). Full-length dystrophin contains multiple protein-protein interaction domains.



Figure 1: Structure of dystrophin associated glycoprotein complex in muscle

(Blake DJ. 2000)

Figure 1: Structure of dystrophin associated glycoprotein complex in muscle. This complex links the intracellular actin to the extracellular matrix laminin in muscle. The DPC can be divided into three subcomplexes: the dystroglycan complex, containing α -and transmembrane β -dystroglycan and laminin; the sarcoglycan complex, containing the transmembrane sarcoglycans and sarcospan; the intracellular cytoplasmic, complex containing dystrophin/utrophin, syntrophin, dystrobrevin and the syntrophin binding protein nNOs.

(This figure is reprinted from Trends in Neuroscience 23(3). The neurobiology of Duchenne muscular dystrophy:learning lessons from muscle. copyright 2000 with permission from ElsevierScience.)

At its N-terminus from amino acid 1-260 is the actin-binding domain, similar to the sequence in the actin-binding domain of actinin. Actin has indeed been shown to bind to this region of dystrophin in vitro and in vivo (14,15,16). Next to the actin-binding domain are the long spectrin-like repeats forming the rod-like domain (17). Adjacent to the rod domain is the cysteine rich (CR) domain, which contains a WW domain, two EF-handlike regions and a ZZ domain (17). The WW domain is an about 30 amino acid long and contains two conserved tryptophan residues (hence WW). The EF-hand like region is a highly conserved motif involved in the binding of calcium or magnesium ions. The ZZ domain is a putative zinc finger motif found in many proteins. Dystrophin interacts with β -dystroglycan at the WW domain (4,11,18,19). Calcium dependent calmodulin can also bind to this region at the ZZ domain (20). The C-terminus of dystrophin contains a coiled-coil region, which is shown to bind to syntrophin and dystrobrevin (1,34,35,146). All isoforms of dystrophin contain the C-terminal CR domain and the coiled-coil region, and therefore have the ability to form a cytoplasmic complex underneath the membrane, indicating the importance of these C-terminal protein binding domains.

The expression of dystrophin and its isoforms are tissue specific. The full-length dystrophin is expressed in skeletal muscle, epithelial cells, and brain (23, 25, and 26). In brain, full-length dystrophin has been found in retina as well as in the postsynaptic densities of the excitatory synapses (25, 27). Dp260 is found in the outer plexiform layer in the retina in conjunction with Dp427 (31); Dp140 is specific for brain (30), and Dp116



Figure 2: Dystrophin isoforms and its protein binding domains

Figure 2: Dystrophin isoforms and its protein binding domains. Dystrophin isoforms and its related proteins are produced by different promoters. The full-length dystrophin contains multiple domain structure. It contains actin binding domain, rode domain, cysteine rich domain, and C-terminal domain. Its shorter isoforms have only cysteine rich domain, c-terminal domain and a partial rod domain except that Dp71 has complete loss of the rod domain. All these isoforms conserve their abilities to bind to dystroglycan at WW domain and syntrophin, dystrobrevin at C-terminal domain.

is in the Schwann cells of the peripheral nerve (28,29). Dp71 is expressed in a variety of tissues, including skeletal muscle, smooth muscle, cardiac muscle, blood vessels, epithelial cells, glial cells and neurons (23, 25). These specific patterns of expression suggest that DPC with distinct function exist in different tissues (e.g. 151)

There are, in addition to these dystrophin isoforms, several other dystrophinrelated proteins coded by separate genes. These genes are autosomal homologues of dystrophin and they encode for a protein called dystrophin related protein 2 (DRP2) (148), and a 395 kDa protein called utrophin or DRP1 as well as several shorter utrophin isoforms such as Up140, Up116 and Up71 (21). The utrophin sequence is quite homologous to dystrophin and only minor differences have been found in its protein binding domains (22). Instead of uniform expression in sarcolemma, like dystrophin, utrophin was found only at the sarcolemma of neuromuscular junction and co-localizes with acetylcholine receptors (23, 24). DRP2 has been found enriched in brain and associated with postsynaptic density (149,150). A recent report showed that it is also in Schwann cells and is associated with a protein called L-periaxin (151), and plays an important role in myelinogenesis (151).

2: Syntrophin and Dystrobrevin

Syntrophin was originally identified in the postsynaptic membrane of *Torpedo* as an intracellular 58kD protein (32). In mammalian tissue, it was co-purified with dystrophin and dystroglycan as one of the DPC components (3, 4), and has been shown to bind to dystrophin, utrophin and dystrobrevin. There are five different syntrophin genes that encode five highly conserved proteins: α_{1-} , β_{1-} , β_{2-} , γ_{1-} , γ_{2-} syntrophin (1,33). The γ_{1-} and γ_{2-} syntrophins are exclusively expressed in neurons and found associated with dystrobrevin and dystrophin (Dp71 and Dp140 (1)), whereas the β_{1-} and β_{2-} syntrophins are expressed in a wide variety of tissues including muscle, liver, kidney, brain, lung and pancreas. α_{1-} syntrophin is predominantly expressed in skeletal and cardiac muscle (33,34). In skeletal muscle immunohistochemical studies using specific antibodies revealed that the three syntrophins (α_{1-} , β_{1-} , β_{2-}) are concentrated at neuromuscular junctions, but α_{1-} and β_{1-} syntrophins are also present at the extrasynaptic sarcolemma, whereas β_{2-} syntrophin is exclusively localized at NMJs (35,36). All syntrophin isoforms bind to the C-terminal coiled-coil region of dystrophin or DRPs (1,34,35,37).

Syntrophins appears to function as adapter molecules that recruit signaling proteins to the DPC (35). The muscle specific syntrophins (α 1-, β 1-, β 2-) have two pleckstrin homology (PH) domains, a PDZ domain, so named because of its presence in postsynaptic density protein-95 (PSD-95), the Drosophila discs large tumor suppresser protein, and the zonula occludens-1 protein (ZO-1), and a highly conserved carboxyl-terminal syntrophin unique (SU) domain (33). The γ 1- and γ 2-syntrophins have somewhat different domain structures with only one PH domain, a PDZ domain and a unique ATP/GTP binding site (1). The PDZ domain is a common protein-protein interaction domain, which could bind to other PDZ domain containing proteins or bind to the motif S/TXV at the C-terminus of a protein. In the case of syntrophin, several PDZ-domain containing proteins have been found to interact with the PDZ domain of syntrophin. These include nNOs (38), and serine/threonine kinases MAST205 and SAST

(39). Syntrophin has also been found to interact with sodium channels in which the Cterminal S/TXV binds to the PDZ domain of syntrophin (40). In brain, the neuronal specific γ 1-syntrophin has recently been reported to interact with diacylglycerol kinase-z (DGK-z), an enzyme that has a consensus PDZ domain interacting motif in its C-terminal and can functionally convert diacylglycerol into phosphatidic acid (41). On the other hand, the conserved C-terminal SU domain of syntrophins has been proven to bind to utrophin, dystrophin and its isoforms, which keeps syntrophin in the dystrophin associated protein complex (1,33,35). Unlike the disruption of dystrophin/utrophin, which causes muscular dystrophies, syntrophin has no mutations that have been found to cause human diseases. Ablation of the α -syntrophin gene in mice results in no gross morphological and functional changes or muscular dystrophies although there is a loss of nNOs in sarcolemma (42). Subsequent studies in α -syntrophin deficient mice revealed undetectable level of utrophin, aberrant junctional folds and reduced level of acetylcholine receptors in the postsynaptic membrane (45).

Dystrobrevin was first identified as an intracellular 87 kDa dystrophin associated protein (5), which was also known as A0 (18). It was also found in *Torpedo* electric organ as an 87kD postsynaptic membrane protein (44). Both dystrobrevin and the *Torpedo* dystrobrevin are homologous to the cysteine rich domain and the C-terminal domain of dystrophin (44, 46) and share several features in common with dystrophin, including its coiled-coil structure and the syntrophin binding motif (46). In mice, two dystrobrevin genes are broadly expressed, and these α and β dystrobrevin genes give rise to several distinct splicing variants.

Although at least 5 α -dystrobrevin isoforms are synthesized, there are two dominant ones found in muscle which are the full length α -dystrobrevin-1, and the Cterminal truncated form α -dystrobrevin 2. While α -dystrobrevin-1 is expressed exclusively at NMJs, α -dystrobrevin-2 is expressed throughout the sarcolemma and at deep junctional folds (47). β -dystrobrevin has significant homology to α -dystrobrevin, and it is not expressed in muscle, instead it is found in brain, kidney, and pancreas and is associated with Dp71 and Dp140 (46,48,143).

Targeted deletion of the α -dystrobrevin gene in mice leads to skeletal and cardiac myopathies and impairment in nNOs signaling while the other DPC complex member are unaltered (50). In addition to this, acetylcholine receptors at neuromuscular junctions seem more diffusely distributed in α -dystrobrevin null animals (51). Furthermore, agrin induced acetylcholine receptor clusters in cultured myotubes from null animals seem to be more fragmented and smaller than the wild type animals (51). These experiments indicate the importance of dystrobrevin in cell signaling, structure, maintenance, and NMJ formation. Very recently, a new protein dysbindin was found associated with α -dystrobrevin in muscle, and with β -dystrobrevin in brain (49), and this new member of DPC interacting protein may give new functions to the whole complex.

3: Sarcoglycans and Sarcospan

Sarcoglycans are five transmembrane proteins linked to the DPC through β dystroglycan (Figure 1). Among them, α -sarcoglycan/adhalin (50 kDa), β -sarcoglycan (43 kDa) and γ -sarcoglycan (35 kDa) were initially co-purified with dystrophin by extracting the dystrophin protein complex with β -D-octyl-glycoside (3,5,18). Later, two other members were also found and named δ -sarcoglycan and ε -sarcoglycan (43,52). As with other members of the DPC, sarcospan was also co-purified with dystrophin as a 25 kDa protein (3,5,18) that is tightly associated with sarcoglycans in the sarcolemma. Generally, sarcospan and sarcoglycans are called the sarcoglycan complex and this complex is connected to dystroglycan through δ -sarcoglycan (147). The composition of the sarcoglycan complex is different in different tissues. In skeletal muscle, it is α -, β -, γ -, δ -sarcoglycan and sarcospan whereas in smooth muscle β -, δ , ε -sarcoglycan and sarcospan are complexed with dystrophin complex (53), and in Schwann cells the composition of sarcoglycan complex has only the δ -, β -and ε -sarcoglycan with no sarcospan (29). In neurons, both sarcospan and most sarcoglycans are thought not to be expressed (25, 29).

As summarized in Table 1, mutations in α -, β -, γ -, or δ -sarcoglycans lead to muscular dystrophies, and experimental mice deficient for either γ - or δ -sarcoglycan also develop a cardiomyopathy (53). The mechanisms for the disease development are not very clear, but it might involve membrane disruption and increased apoptosis (53) when sarcoglycan is absent. There is also evidence that integrin α 5 β 1 and α -sarcoglycans are associated so that disruption in sarcoglycan also might affect the integrin signaling (54). Only expressed in limited tissues with β -, δ - or γ -sarcoglycan such as in smooth muscle, vascular epithelium and Schwann cells, ε -sarcoglycan is absent from the membrane when β -sarcoglycan is deleted (52). So far, there are no mutations found in ε -sarcoglycan that are linked with any human disease (52).

4: Dystroglycan

The dystroglycan gene comprises two exons and encodes a single polypeptide that is post-translationally cleaved to yield two glycoproteins: α -dystroglycan and β dystroglycan. (Figure 3) (4,55). The dystroglycan protein contains 895 amino acids, and α -dystroglycan is completely extracellular and contains amino acids 1 to 653; β dystroglycan is a transmembrane protein and contains amino acids 654 to 895. The transmembrane domain within β -dystroglycan contains sequences from 751-774. The primary protein sequence of α -dystroglycan predicts a molecular weight of 72 kDa. However, α -dystroglycan in mammalian skeletal muscle is 156 kDa (4), 140 kDa in cardiac muscle (56), and 120 kDa in brain and peripheral nerve (12,133). There is no evidence for alternative splicing, therefor α -dystroglycan must undergo significant posttranslational modification. Several studies revealed that α -dystroglycan resembles mucin proteins and undergoes heavy O-glycosylation within its mucin-like domain (amino acid 315 to 484) (57,58). In addition to the O-linked glycosylation, there are also some potential sites within its sequence for N-linked glycosylation (Figure 3). These oligosaccharide side chains have been suggested to be critical components for interactions between α -dystroglycan and the extracellular matrix proteins such as laminin, agrin and perlecan (59,60,63). B-dystroglycan is also glycosylated. Its protein sequence predicts a molecular weight of 26 kDa, but it actually has a molecular weight of 43 kDa in most tissues. The glycosylation is necessary for correct sorting of the mature α - and β -subunits to the extracellular surface and plasma membrane (55), where they are non-covalently connected. The intracellular region of β - dystroglycan is enriched with



Figure 3: Illustration of α - and β -dystroglycan protein

Figure 3: Illustration of α - and β -dystroglycan. The extracellular N-terminal α dystroglycan has a mucin-like domain and has, in total, 653 amino acids. Several Oglycosylation sites exist within this domain and several N-linked glycosylation sites are outside the mucin domain. β -dystroglycan contains amino acids from 654 to 895 and the transmembrane domain lies from 751 to 774. Glycosylation on both α - and β dystroglycan change their apparent molecular weights in tissue from 72 kDa and 26 kDa to 100-200 kDa and 43 kDa respectively. prolines and contains multiple PxxP and PPxY consensus sequences and has the potential to bind to SH3 and WW domain containing proteins. A number of proteins have been found to interact with dystroglycan (both α - and β -) in muscle (discussed below) and these interactions may give rise to a variety of functions for dystroglycan as well as for the DPC.

Part II: Dystroglycan Interacting Proteins

As noted previously, dystroglycan has been found to associate with multiple proteins inside and outside of the cell and serves as the core component of the DPC. In skeletal muscle, α -dystroglycan interacts with the basement membrane proteins laminin, agrin, perlecan, and biglycan; intracellularly it interacts with dystrophin/utrophin, rapsyn, Grb2 and caveolin-3; on the membrane it associates with δ -sarcoglycan.

Laminin: In skeletal muscle, each muscle fiber is surrounded by an extracellular matrix sleeve, which is composed mainly of laminin, collagen, entactin and heparin sulfate proteoglycan. This matrix is important for muscle differentiation, growth, migration, synapse formation and attachment (61,62). Laminin 1 is a 900 kDa heterotrimer consisting of α , β , and γ chains with many distinctive domains and structures (61). Among many functions of laminin, the most relevant to the DPC is located at the C-terminus of the α -chain. There exist five globular domains (G-domains) (61). These domains were shown to bind to edystroglycan with high affinity (Kd=90nM) through the last two G-domains (12). Binding to laminin is calciumdependent and could be inhibited by heparin and abolished by treating α -dystroglycan with glycosidases including sialidase (5,11,64), indicating that sugar chains of α -

19

dystroglycan participate in the binding. Other evidence support this idea in that a monoclonal antibody (IIH6) that recognizes the carbohydrate side chains of α -dystroglycan also blocks the binding of α -dystroglycan to the G-domains (69). It is now generally believed that this interaction is a critical linkage between extracellular matrix and the intracellular structure in tissue where dystroglycan and laminin are expressed, including skeletal muscle, neuromuscular junction, smooth muscle, cardiac muscle, epithelia (63), peripheral nerve (29), brain (12) and kidney (65).

Agrin: Agrin is a 400-600 kDa heparan sulfate proteoglycan (66), secreted by neurons and muscle where it is deposited in the basal lamina of neuromuscular junctions. Agrin has long been known as a molecule that can stimulate postsynaptic acetylcholine receptor aggregation at neuromuscular junctions (NMJs), and its receptors in the muscle membrane include the muscle specific tyrosine kinase (MuSK) and α -dystroglycan (67,68,69,70,71). Agrin contains three laminin-like G-domains at its C-terminus, which include G1, the first G-domain; G2, the second G-domain which has either 0- or 4-amino acid insert due to alternative splicing, and G3, the third G-domain, with either a 0-, 8-, 11- or 19- amino acid insert. Agrin's activity to promote AChR clustering resides entirely in the C-terminal three G-domains and four EGF-like domains. Agrin with no inserts has wide tissue origins and displays weak AChR clustering activity, but inserts of 8,11, or 19 amino acids are found only in agrin of neuronal origin and have strong clustering activity. These C-terminal G-domains have been shown to interact with α -dystroglycan dependent upon calcium (69,70,71,72). In addition to α -dystroglycan, agrin also binds to laminin via its N-terminal, helping connect it to the basal lamina (73). The role for the interaction between agrin and α -dystroglycan in promoting postsynaptic AChR clustering was controversial because dystroglycan was found to bind to both neuron and muscle agrin but only the neuronal agrin has the AChR clustering activity (71). In addition deletion of 15-kDa fragment from the C-terminus of agrin (G3 domain) had no effect on its α dystroglycan binding ability, but almost abolished its acetylcholine receptor aggregating activity (74).

MuSK has been shown to be downstream of agrin in promoting AChR clustering and is required for neuromuscular junction formation (68,75), but MuSK does not bind agrin in the absence of an unidentified co-receptor (68). Although genetic evidence shows that MuSK and agrin are required for the postsynaptic differentiation process, other evidence indicates that laminin is sufficient to induce AChR clusters in culture, through dystroglycan, but independent of MuSK activity (76,77). Very recent work has demonstrated that the initiation of AChR clustering is independent of any neuronal signal including agrin (78), but intrinsic to muscle itself (78), even though MuSK is still required. This raises the possibility that an unknown muscle signal (instead of neuronal agrin) together with the tyrosine kinase activity of MuSK participate to initiate AChR clustering. However, this does not exclude roles of muscle agrin or dystroglycan in the formation of mature postsynaptic NMJs.

Perlecan and Biglycan: Perlecan is a heparan sulfate proteoglycan with a single chain polypeptide core of 396 kDa that is expressed widely as a component of all basement membranes including in muscle where it is enriched at NMJs (83). Like laminin, perlecan has multiple domains and structures. At its C-terminus it has three Gdomains similar to those of the laminin α -chain and agrin (79,80), and these G-domains have shown to bind to α -dystroglycan (81,82). Biglycan is a small, leucine-rich repeat

21

proteoglycan, and it is found expressed in synaptic and nonsynaptic regions in muscle and enriched at NMJs (83). Biglycan is considered as extracellular matrix protein and it was first found to bind α -dystroglycan in *Torpedo* electric organ by ligand blot overlay assay (83). Unlike the G-domain containing proteins, this protein does not have any globular domains and it binds to the protein core of the last third C-terminal of α dystroglycan, but not the sugar chains like in laminin, agrin or perlecan (83). Treating the biglycan itself with chondroitinase to remove the chondroitin sulfate side chain abolished the binding to α -dystroglycan, indicating the interaction is dependent on the chondroitin sulfate chains of biglycan (83).

In addition to the above proteins that associate with α -dystroglycan, there are several intracellular proteins and transmembrane proteins that interact with β dystroglycan.

Rapsyn: Rapsyn, a 43 kDa peripheral membrane protein expressed in skeletal muscle, plays a critical role in organizing postsynaptic structures and acetylcholine receptors (AChRs) during the formation of NMJs. Rapsyn colocalizes with AChRs in the postsynaptic membrane at the earliest stages following innervation (152). Rapsyndeficient mice die at birth because of failure of neuromuscular transmission (84). These mice have NMJs with little localization of AChRs, and utrophin and dystroglycan are no longer enriched in the postsynaptic membranes (84). Biochemical studies using electric organ of *Torpedo* demonstrated that rapsyn can be cross-linked to the AChR β -subunit (153) and binds directly to the juxtamembrane portion of the cytoplasmic tail of dystroglycan from amino acid 784 to 819, a site distinct from the dystrophin binding site (85,86). When expressed in non-muscle cells, rapsyn can recruit AChRs and dystroglycan

to form membrane associated clusters (87,154). Rapsyn is also required for the MuSK signaling in which rapsyn recruits other synaptic components including AChRs to the MuSK containing scaffold (87,155). These experiments indicate that rapsyn serves as a linkage between AChRs and MuSK, AChRs and dystroglycan/DPC, and is critical for the differentiation of the postsynaptic membrane.

Grb2: Grb2 is a well known signaling molecule that serves as an adapter protein and participates in receptor tyrosine kinase and PI3 kinase and MAP signaling cascade. It contains an SH2 domain that binds to tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins, and two SH3 domains that bind to proline-rich proteins (94). The SH3 domain contains about 60 amino acids and it has been shown to bind to the proline rich tail of SOS (94). The Grb2/SOS complex is thought to be recruited to autophosphorylated receptor tyrosine kinases in the plasma membrane after ligands activate the receptor (91.92,93). This recruitment brings SOS in close proximity to the molecule Ras in the plasma membrane. Genetic and biochemical evidence has demonstrated that SOS can transform inactive GDP-Ras to the active GTP-Ras and that Grb2 couples activation of Ras in response to the receptor tyrosine phosphorylation (94,95,96). Once in an active GTP-bound state, Ras can interact with several effector proteins such as Raf and PI3 kinase to stimulate numerous intracellular processes. Activated Raf stimulates MAP-kinase-kinase (MAPKK) by phosphorylating a key Ser residue. MAPKK then phosphorylates MAPK on a Thr or Tyr residue in the activation-loop to activate it (96). Activated MAPK phosphorylates a variety of cytoplasmic and membrane linked substrates. In addition, MAPK is rapidly translocated into nucleus where it phosphorylates and activates transcription factors (97,98). This signaling cassette is highly conserved in evolution and several MAPK cascades exist in yeast, in invertebrates and vertebrates (99,100), and they play very important roles in the control of metabolic processes, cell cycle, cell migration, and cell shape as well as in cell proliferation and differentiation (101).

Dystroglycan has been also found to interact with Grb2. The C-terminus of dystroglycan contains several proline rich (PxxP) and hydrophobic consensus sequences, and it binds to both SH3 domains of Grb2 (102), but with higher affinity to the N-terminal SH3 domain than to the C-terminal SH3 domain (102). Mutations in both SH3 domains which abolish the association with Grb2-binding proteins also prevent Grb2 binding to dystroglycan, confirming that the association between Grb2 and dystroglycan is through SH3 and proline rich domains (102). However, there is no evidence so far found that dystroglycan is complexed with other signaling molecules such as receptor tyrosine kinases, SOS or MAPK. The interaction between dystroglycan and Grb2 has been found not only in muscle, but also in brain synaptosomes where the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) P125 was complexed with dystroglycan through Grb2 (103). Further experiments in dissecting β -dystroglycan through Grb2.

Dystrophin and Utrophin: It has been well documented that the last 15 amino acids of dystroglycan C-terminal bind to the WW domain of dystrophin or utrophin (4,11,18,19). Because dystrophin also interacts with actin in its N-terminal, and α -dystroglycan interacts with basement membrane protein laminin or perlecan, the axis of dystrophin, dystroglycan and laminin serves as the linkage between the intracellular cytoskeleton and extracellular matrix (Figure 1), and this linkage is thought to prevent muscle from the mechanical damage during contraction. It is also interestingly to note

that the interaction between dystroglycan and utrophin at NMJs can be regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation in the PPxY motif of the dystroglycan at Y892 which is a critical point for both utrophin and dystrophin binding (104).

Caveolin 3: Caveolins are principle protein components of caveolae which are 50-100 nm membrane invagination representing an appendage or subcompartment of the plasma membrane (105,106,107). Caveolins consist of caveolin-1, caveolin-2, and caveolin-3, and are encoded by three separate genes (108,109,110). Two isoforms of caveolin-1 (Cav-1 α and Cav-1 β) are derived from alternate initiation during translation (112). Caveolin-1 and caveolin-2 are most abundantly expressed in adipocytes, endothelial cells and fibroblastic cell types, whereas the expression of caveolin-3 is muscle-specific (110). Caveolin proteins interact with themselves to form homo- and hetero-oligomers (113,114,115), which directly bind cholesterol (116) and require cholesterol for insertion into lipid membranes. Caveolin-1 and caveolin-2 have been found to form a stable hetero-oligomeric complex, in vivo they are strictly co-localized, and the localization of the complex is found within caveolae identified by immunoelectron microscopy (115).

A number of studies have suggested that caveolins provide direct means for signaling molecules to be sequestered within caveolae microdomains, by directly interacting with a conserved 20 amino acid (aa82-101) domain called the caveolin scaffolding domain (111). These signaling proteins include G-proteins, Ras, Src family tyrosine kinases, NOS, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and phospholipase C γ (reviewed in 111 and 117). In addition to these signaling proteins, dynamin, a protein critical for endocytosis and synaptic transmission, has also been shown to interact with

caveolin-2 in epithelial cells (118,119), and the presence of dynamin at the neck of caveolae is thought to be important for caveolae-mediated internalization.

In muscle, caveolin-3 is not an integral component of the DPC, but an association between caveolin-3 and β -dystroglycan has been reported (120). The interaction is thought to be through the WW domain in caveolin-3 and caveolin-1 and the PPxY motif in the extreme C-terminus of dystroglycan, which also binds dystrophin/utrophin (120). Thus, there may be competition and regulation between binding of caveolin-3 to dystroglycan and binding of dystrophin/utrophin to dystroglycan. Indirect evidence supports the hypothesis that caveolin-3 interacts with the DPC. First, mutations in caveolin-3 gene cause autosomal dominant limb-girble muscular dystrophy (121,122,123), a phenotype that is similar to the autosomal recessive LGMD-2 caused by mutations in sarcoglycans (Table1). Secondly, in caveolin-3 mutated patients, there is significant loss of α -dystroglycan as well as nNOs in muscle (124), similar to the loss in DMD patients. Other studies in caveolin-3 null mice showed an exclusion of the dystrophin associated protein complex from lipid raft domains (125). Together, these data imply that caveolin-3 interacts biochemically and genetically with the DPC, but further studies are necessary to explain why caveolin mutations lead to myopathies.

Part III: Dystroglycan and the DPC in the Nervous System

1: Dystroglycan and DPC at NMJ

Dystroglycan and the other DPC members are concentrated at NMJs, where utrophin displaces dystrophin to form a complex with other members of the DPC. The function of dystroglycan and the DPC in NMJ formation have been investigated extensively since agrin has been shown to interact with α -dystroglycan. Several observations support a role of dystroglycan in postsynaptic differentiation, if not in initiating AChR clustering. Because dystroglycan knockout mice fail to develop past day 6.5 of embryogenesis due to the disruption of the formation of the extra-embryonic basement membrane (Reichert's membrane) (126), chimeric mice and dystroglycandeficient embryonic stem cells were used to analyze the formation of NMJs (51,89,127). In these stem-cell induced myotubes, the AChR aggregates form, but they are much larger in size, about half as dense and fail to coalesce into dense clusters (89). AChRs at the NMJs are similarly affected in dystroglycan deficient chimeric mice and also the nerve terminal is larger in size (89). In both in-vivo and in vitro situations, the basement membrane proteins acetylcholinesterase (AChE), laminin and perlecan are all disorganized and do not colocalise with AChRs (89), indicating that dystroglycan functions as an organizer of the basement membrane proteins at NMJs. Another report also pointed out that dystrophin and the intracellular complex are also dislocated from the sarcolemma when dystroglycan is absent (51). A similar phenotype in AChR clustering has been found in the dystrobrevin null NMJs, where AChRs are also diffuse and unstable (51). In utrophin knockout mice, there are decreased postsynaptic foldings,
decreased AChRs and small electrophysiological changes detected (128,130). In dystrophin and utrophin double knock-out mice, in addition to the typical phenotypes for muscular dystrophy, the postsynaptic junction foldings are completely lost and the AChR density is modestly decreased, as in the utrophin knock out mice (129,131). All these data suggested that dystroglycan and dystrophin complex maintain and assemble the postsynaptic specialization.

2: Dystroglycan and DPC in peripheral nerve:

Because of the tissue specific expression of dystrophin isoforms and other complex members, the composition of dystrophin associated complex in other tissues is likely different from that in muscle. In peripheral nerve, where nerve fibers are often wrapped by a myelin sheath, Dp116, in the outermost layer of the myelin sheath, replaces full length Dp427 and is anchored to the membrane by interacting with dystroglycan. Also, instead of four sarcoglycans (α , β , γ , and δ) and sarcospan, peripheral nerve only expresses β -, δ -sarcoglycan and ϵ -sarcoglycan, an α -sarcoglycan homologue (132,133) (Figure 4). As in the muscle, Dp116 and sarcoglycans are connected to the extracellular matrix through interaction between α -dystroglycan and laminin α 2 chain (132,133). Mutations in α 2 chain of laminin that results in loss of its expression cause a peripheral dysmyelination (135,136).

An interesting side-light in dystroglycan function comes from studies which show that *Mycobacterium leprae*, a pathogen that invades Schwann cells and causes leprosy in humans, utilizes the laminin-dystroglycan-Dp116 link to invade the Schwann cell (134). *Mycobacterium leprae* binds to α -dystroglycan only in the presence of laminin α 2 chain

28



Figure 4: Dystroglycan and the DPC in peripheral nerve

Figure 4: Dystroglycan and the DPC in peripheral nerve. In the outer wrapping of the myelin sheath, Dp116/utrophin connects to β -dystroglycan. δ -sarcoglycan, β -sarcoglycan and ϵ -sarcoglycan form the transmembrane sarcoglycan complex. α -dystroglycan is also present and connects to transmembrane β -dystroglycan and extracellular laminin 2 (not shown).

(134). Abolishment of the carbohydrate moieties of α -DG or treatment with EDTA will disrupt *Mycobacterium leprae*'s binding to α -dystroglycan, because these treatments eliminate the binding of laminin2 to α -dystroglycan, which is dependent on calcium and carbohydrate moieties (134). These data suggest that existence of α -dystroglycan and laminin 2 as well as their interaction could be a route for *Mycobacterium leprae* to infect the peripheral nerve.

Very recently, a group of scientists also reported that there exists a dystrophinrelated protein 2 (DRP2)-dystroglycan complex in peripheral nerve, where DRP2 connects to β-dystroglycan in the membrane and a homodimeric PDZ domain containing protein L-periaxin in the cytoplasm (151). Disruption of the DRP2-dystroglycan complex is followed by hypermyelination and destabilization of the Schwann cell-axon unit in periaxin -/- mice, implying that this complex functions in peripheral nerve myelinogenesis (151).

3: Dystroglycan and DPC in Central Nervous System

Unlike in muscle where the function and composition of DPC is better understood, the component members of DPC in different brain regions and cell types as well as the function of each member in brain are largely unknown. However, the disruption of the dystrophin gene in DMD and BMD patients results in mental retardation in about 1/3 of the patients (156), and in the dystrophin null *mdx* mice behavioral abnormalities such as retention impairment have also been documented (157) even though the spatial learning and hippocampal LTP is little affected (158,159).

Full length dystrophin Dp427, Dp71 and Dp140 are all found expressed in brain

31

regions including cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, striatum and thalamus (25,30). Nevertheless Dp427 is neuronal specific (25), localized to the postsynaptic membrane and is enriched in postsynaptic densities (PSD) (27) together with syntrophin and dystrobrevin (137). Dp427, Dp71 and utrophin are also found expressed in astrocytes, but in differentiated, mature astrocytes, Dp71 replaces both Dp427 and utrophin as the dominant dystrophin isoform in the endfect of astrocytes (138).

Like Dp427, dystroglycan was found expressed in brain regions including hippocampus, cerebellum, striatum, and thalamus, but not in cerebral cortex (139,140). However, a recent report suggests that dystroglycan immunostaining is found in cerebral cortex (141). α - and β -dystroglycan were also found expressed in blood vessels and astrocytes (140,138), especially on the astrocytic endfeet that surround the basement membrane of blood vessels (140,142), where, not surprisingly, the basement membrane protein laminin 2 is also found (140). It seems possible that laminin 2 forms a linkage with the complex of α -, β -dystroglycan, utrophin or Dp71 between the astrocyte endfect and the blood vessel basement membrane and it might protect the integrity of the blood brain barrier. In the Purkinje cell layer of cerebellum, α -dystroglycan immunostaining was seen in the Purkinje cell bodies and dendrites (140). Notably the staining appears to be not uniformly distributed (140) which would be expected if it is synaptically localized. A recent report shows that the composition of intracellular cytoplasmic complex of the DPC is different in neurons and glial cells (143). By using co-immunoprecipitation and immunohistochemistry, the authors showed that dystrophin, syntrophin and β dystrobrevin form a complex underneath the neuronal membrane, whereas Dp71, syntrophin and α 1-dystrobrevin form a cytoplasmic complex underneath the glial

membrane (143) (Figure 5). Unfortunately, these authors did not give any evidence about dystroglycan's roles, by showing whether these two complexes in both neurons and glial cells may be connected to plasma membrane by dystroglycan.

To date there have been no clear explanation for the mental impairment in cases of complete or partial loss of dystrophin. However, several studies show possible disrupted synaptic transmission in the retina of dystrophin null mice. This appears as a reduction of the amplitude of the ERG (electroretinogram) b-wave in dystrophin null mice which may be caused by impaired synaptic transmission between rod photoreceptors and their postsynaptic target cells in the outer plexiform layer (25,160,161). Except for that, many questions remain to be answered. For instance, what is the expression profile of β -dystroglycan in neurons? Is the DPC in neurons and glial cells the same as that in the muscle? Are there any novel proteins associated with this dystroglycan and dystrophin complex? Are these novel proteins, if any, involved in synaptic transmission or synaptogenesis early in the development considering the synaptic transmission impairment in the retina of dystrophin null mice? Understanding these questions will help us dissect functions of dystroglycan, dystrophin, and its complex, and will introduce new knowledge to brain structure, function and development.





Figure 5: Comparison of DPC cytoplasmic complex in brain neurons and glia

(J Cell Biol. 147:645-58 1999. Blake DJ)

Figure 5: Comparison of DPC cytoplasmic complex in brain neurons and glia. In neurons, full-length dystrophin is complexed with syntrophin and β -dystrobrevin to form the cytoplasmic DPC under the neuronal membrane; whereas Dp71, syntrophin and α 1 form the cytoplasmic complex under the glial membrane.

(This figure is repreinted from Journal of Cell Biology 147:3 Different dystrophin-like complexes are expressed in neurons and glia. copyright 1999, with permission from journal of cell biology)

REFERENCE

1: Piluso, G., Mirabella, M., Ricci, E., Belsito, A., Abbondanza, C., Servidei, S., Puca, A.A., Tonali, P., Puca, G.A., Nigro, V., 2000 Gamma1- and gamma2-syntrophins, two novel dystrophin-binding proteins localized in neuronal cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275(21):15851-60

2: Hoffman, E., and Kunkel, L.M. 1989. Dystrophin abnormalities in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy. *Neuron 2, 1019-1029.*

3: Campbell, K.P. & Kahl, S.D. 1989. Association of dystrophin and an integral membrane glycoprotein. *Nature 338: 259-262*

4: Ervasti, J.M. and Campbell, K.P. 1991. Membrane Organization of the Dystrophin-Glycoprotein Complex. *Cell 66:1121-1131*

5: Ervasti, J.M., Kahl, S.D., Campbell, K.P. 1991. Purification of Dystrophin from Skeletal Muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 266,14:9161-9165

6: Ohlendieck, K., and Campbell, K.P. 1991. Dystrophin –glycoprotein complex is highly enriched in isolated skeletal muscle sarcolemma. *J. Cell Biol.* 112, 135-148

7: Robert H. Brown. 1997. Dystrophin-Associated Proteins and the Muscular Dystrophies. Annu. Review. Med. 48:457-466

8: Roberds, S.L., Leturcq, F., Allamand, V., Piccolo, V., Jeanpierre, M., Anderson, R.D., Lim, L.E., Lee, J.C., Tome, F.M., Romero, N.B. 1994. Missense mutations in adhalin gene linked to autosomal recessive muscular dystrophy. *Cell* 78:625-33

9: Bonnemann, C.G., Modi, R., Noguchi, S., Mizuno, Y., Yoshida, M., Gussoni, E., McNally, E.M., Duggan, D.J., Angelini, C., Hoffman, E.P. 1995. Beta-sarcoglycan

mutations cause autosomal recessive muscular dystrophy with loss of the sarcoglycan complex. *Nature Genet.* 11:266-273

10: Helbling-Leclerc, A., Zhang, X., Topaloglu, H., Cruaud, C., Tesson, F., Weissenbach,
J., Tome, F.M., Schwartz, K., Fardeau, M., Tryggvason, K. 1995. Mutations in the
laminin a2-chain gene (LAMA2) cause merosin deficient congenital muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genet.* 11: 216-18

11: Ervasti, J.M. & Campbell, K.P. 1993. A role for the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex as a transmembrane linker between laminin and actin. *J. Cell Biol. 122: 809-23*

12: Gee, S.H., Blacher, R.W., Douville, P.J., Provost, P.R., Yurchenco, P.D., Carbonetto,

S. 1993. Laminin-binding protein 120 from brain is closely related to the dystrophinassociated glycoprotein, dystroglycan, and binds with high affinity to the major heparin binding domain of laminin. J. Biol. Chem. 268:14972-14980

13: Ahn, A.H., Kunkel, L.M. 1993. The structure and functional diversity of dystrophin. *Nature Genetics 3: 283-291*

14: Levine, B.A., Moir, A.J., Patchell, V.B., Perry, S.V. 1990. The interaction of actin with dystrophin. *FEBS Lett.* 263:159-62

15: Corrado, K., Mills, P.L. Chamberlain, J.S. 1994. Deletion analysis of the dystrophinactin binding domain. *FEBS Lett.* 344:255-260.

16: Root, D.D. 1997. In situ molecular association of dystrophin with actin revealed by sensitized emission immuno-resonance energy transfer. *PNAS USA*. 94:5685-5690.

17: Koenig, M., Monaco, A.P., Kunkel, L.M. 1988. The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rod-shaped cytoskeletal protein. *Cell* 53:219-228

18: Yoshida, M., and Ozawa. E. 1990. Glycoprotein complex anchoring dystrophin to sarcolemma. *J Biochem(Tokyo)*. 108:748-752

19: Di Vignano, T., Di Zenzo, A.G., Sudol, M., Cesareni, G., Dente, L. 2000. Contribution of the different modules in the utrophin carboxyl-terminal region to the formation and regulation of the DAP complex. *FEBS lett.* 471:229-234

20: Anderson, J.T., Rogers, R.P., Jarrett, H.W. 1996. Ca²⁺⁺-Calmodulin binds to the carboxyl-terminal domain of dystrophin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:6605-6610

21: Love, D.R., Hill, D.F., DIckson, G., Spurr, N.K., Byth, B.C., Marsden, R.F., Walsh, F.S., Edwards, Y.H., Davies, K.E. 1989. An autosomal transcript in skeletal muscle with homology to dystrophin. *Nature 339:55-58*

22: Tinsley, J.M., Blake, D.J., Roche, A., Fairbrother, U., Riss, J., Byth, B.C., Knight, A.E., Kendrick-Jones, J., Suthers, G.K., Love, D.R. 1992. Primary structure of dystrophin-related protein. *Nature 360:591-593*.

23: Nguyen, T,M., Ellis, J.M., Love, D.R., Davies, K.E., Gatter, K.C., Dickson, G., Morris, G.E. 1991. Localization of the DMDL gene-encoded dystrophin-related protein using a panel of nineteen monoclonal antibodies: presence at neuromuscular junctions, in the sarcolemma of dystrophic skeletal muscle, in vascular and other smooth muscles, and in proliferating brain cell lines. *J. Cell Biol. 115(6): 1695-1700.*

24. Matsumura, K., Ervasti, J.M., Ohlendieck, K., Kahl, S.D., Campbell, K.P. 1992. Association of dystrophin-related protein with dystrophin-associated proteins in mdx mouse muscle. *Nature 360:588-91*

25: Blake, D.J., Kroger, S. 2000. The neurobiology of duchenne muscular dystrophy: learning lessons from muscle? *Trends Neurosci.* 23(3):92-9

38

26: Mehler, M.F. 2000. Brain dystrophin, neurogenetics and mental retardation. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 32(1):277-307

27: Lidov, H.G., Byers, T.J., Watkins, S.C., Kunkel, L.M. 1990. Localization of dystrophin to postsynaptic regions of central nervous system cortical neurons. *Nature* 348(6303):725-8

28: Byers, T.J., Lidov, H.G.W, Kunkel, L.M. 1993. An alternative dystrophin transcript specific to peripheral nerve. *Nature Genet.* 4:77-80

29: Imamura, M., Araishi, K., Noguchi, S., Ozawa, E. 2000. A sarcoglycan-dystroglycan complex anchors Dp116 and utrophin in the peripheral nervous system. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2(20):3091-3100

30: Lidove, H.G.W., Selig, S., and Kunkel, L.M. 1995. Dp140: a novel 140 kDa CNS transcript from the dystrophin locus. *Hum. Mol. Gene.* 4(3): 329-335.

31: D'Souza, V.N., Nguyen, T.M., Morris, G.E., Karges, W., Pillers, D.A., Ray, P.N.
1995 A novel dystrophin isoforms is required for normal retinal electrophysiology. *Hum Mol Genet. 4: 837-842.*

32: Froehner, S.C., Murnane, A.A., Tobler, M., Peng, H.B., Sealock, R. 1987. A postsynaptic Mr 58,000 (58K) protein concentrated at acetylcholine receptor-rich sites in Torpedo electroplaques and skeletal muscle. *J. Cell Biol.* 104:1633-1646

33: Adams, M.E., Dwyer, T.M., Dowler, L.L., White, R.A., Froehner, S.C. 1995. Mouse alpha 1- and beta 2-syntrophin gene structure, chromosome localization, and homology with a discs large domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270(43):25859-65

34: Ahn, A.H., Freener, C.A., Gussoni, E., Yoshida, M., Ozawa, E., Kunkel, L.M. 1996 The three human syntrophin genes are expressed in diverse tissues, have distinct

39

chromosomal locations, and each bind to dystrophin and its relatives. J. Biol. Chem. 271(5):2724-30

35: Peters, M.F., Adams, M.E., Froehner, S.C. 1997 Differential association of syntrophin pairs with the dystrophin complex. *J Cell Biol.* 138(1):81-93

36: Peters, M.F., Kramarcy, N.R., Sealock, R., Froehner, S.C. 1994. beta 2-Syntrophin: localization at the neuromuscular junction in skeletal muscle. *Neuroreport 5(13):1577-80*37: Kramarcy, N.R., Vidal, A., Froehner, S.C., Sealock, R. 1994. Association of utrophin and multiple dystrophin short forms with the mammalian M(r) 58,000 dystrophin-

associated protein (syntrophin). J Biol. Chem. 269:2870-2876

38: Brenman, J.E., Chao, D.S., Gee, S.H., McGee, A.W., Craven, S.E., Santillano, D.R., Wu, Z., Huang, F., Xia, H., Peters, M.F., Froehner, S.C., Bredt, D.S. 1996 Interaction of nitric oxide synthase with the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 and alpha1-syntrophin mediated by PDZ domains. *Cell* 84(5):757-67

39: Lumeng, C., Phelps, S., Crawford, G.E., Walden, P.D., Barald, K., Chamberlain, J.S. 1999. Interactions between beta 2-syntrophin and a family of microtubule-associated serine/threonine kinases. *Nat Neurosci 2(7):611-7*

40: Gee, S.H., Madhavan, R., Levinson, S.R., Caldwell, J.H., Sealock, R., Froehner, S.C. 1998. Interaction of muscle and brain sodium channels with multiple members of the syntrophin family of dystrophin-associated proteins. *J. Neurosci.* 18(1):128-37

41: Hogan, A., Shepherd, L., Chabot, J., Quenneville, S., Prescott, S.M., Topham, M.K., Gee, S.H. 2001. Interaction of {gamma}1-syntrophin with diacylglycerol kinase-{zeta}: Regulation of nuclear localization by PDZ interactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276(28):26526-33

42: Kameya, S., Miyagoe, Y., Nonaka, I., Ikemoto, T., Endo, M., Hanaoka, K., Nabeshima, Y., Takeda, S. 1999. alpha1-syntrophin gene disruption results in the absence of neuronal-type nitric-oxide synthase at the sarcolemma but does not induce muscle degeneration. J. Biol. Chem. 274(4):2193-200

43: Nigro, V., Piluso, G., Belsito, A., Polituca, L., Papparella, S., Rossi, E., Viglietto, G., Esposito, M.G., Abbondanza, C., Medici, N., Molinari, A.M., Nigro, G., Puca, G.A. 1996. Identification of a novel sarcoglycan gene at 5q33 encoding a sarcolemma 35kD glycoprotein. *Hum Mol Genet.* 5:1179-1186

44: Wagner, K.R., Cohen, J.B., Huganir, R.L. 1993. The 87K postsynaptic membrane protein from Torpedo is a protein-tyrosine kinase substrate homologous to dystrophin. *Neuron* 10(3):511-22

45: Adams, M.E., Kramarcy, N., Krall, S.P., Rossi, S.G., Rotundo, R.L., Sealock, R., Froehner, S.C. 2000. Absence of alpha-syntrophin leads to structurally aberrant neuromuscular synapses deficient in utrophin. *J. Cell Biol.* 150(6):1385-98

46: Peters, M.F., O'Brien, K.F., Sadoulet-Puccio, H.M., Kunkel, L.M., Adams, M.E., Froehner, S.C. 1997. beta-dystrobrevin, a new member of the dystrophin family. Identification, cloning, and protein associations. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272(50):31561-9

47: Peters, M.F., Sadoulet-Puccio, H.M., Grady, M.R., Kramarcy, N.R., Kunkel, L.M., Sanes, J.R., Sealock, R., Froehner, S.C. 1998. Differential membrane localization and intermolecular associations of alpha-dystrobrevin isoforms in skeletal muscle. *J. Cell Biol.* 142:1269-1278

48: Blake, D.J., Nawrotzki, R., Loh, N.Y., Gorecki, D.C., Davies, K.E. 1998. Betadystrobrevin, a member of the dystrophin-related protein family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95:241-246

49: Benson, M.A., Newey, S.E., Martin-Rendon, E., Hawkes, R., Blake, D.J. 2001. Dysbindin, a novel coiled-coil-containing protein that interacts with the dystrobrevins in muscle and brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276(26):24232-41

50: Grady, R.M., Grange, R.W., Lau, K.S., Maimone, M.M., Nichol, M.C., Stull, J.T., Sanes, J.R. 1999. Role for alpha-dystrobrevin in the pathogenesis of dystrophindependent muscular dystrophies. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1(4):215-20

51: Grady, R.M., Zhou, H., Cunningham, J.M., Henry, M.D., Campbell, K.P., Sanes, J.R. 2000. Maturation and maintenance of the neuromuscular synapse: genetic evidence for roles of the dystrophin--glycoprotein complex. *Neuron* 25(2):279-93

52: Ettinger, A.J., Feng, G., Sanes, J.R. 1997. Epsilon-Sarcoglycan, a broadly expressed homologue of the gene mutated in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272:32534-32538

53: Hack, A.A., Ly, C.T., Jiang, F., Clendenin, C.J., Sigrist, K.S., Wollmann, R.L., McNally, E.M. 1998. Gamma-sarcoglycan deficiency leads to muscle membrane defects and apoptosis independent of dystrophin. *J. Cell Biol.* 142:1279-1287

54: Yoshida, Y., Pan, H., Hanada, Y., Iwata, M., Shigekawa, M., 1998. Bidirectional signaling between sarcoglycans and the integrin adhesion system in cultured L6 myocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 273:1583-1590

55: Holt, K.H., Crosbie, R.H., Venzke, D.P., Campbell, K.P. 2000. Biosynthesis of dystroglycan: Processing of a precursor propeptide. *FEBS Letters* 468: 79-83

- 56: Ervasti, J.M., Burwel, M.A., Geissler, A.I. 1997. Tissue-specific heterogeneity in adystroglycan sialoglycosylation. J. Biol. Chem. 272:22315-22321
- 57: Brancaccio, A., Schultess, T., Gesemann, M., Engel, J. 1995. Electron microscopic evidence for a mucin-like region in chick muscle a-dystroglycan. *FEBS Letter 368:139-142*
- 58: Smalheiser, N.R., Kim, E. 1995. Purification of cranin, a laminin binding membrane protein. J. Biol. Chem. 270:15425-15433
- 59: Durbeej, M., Henry, M.D., and Campbell, K.P. 1998. Dystroglycan in development and disease. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 10:594-601
- 60: Winder, S.J. 2001. The complexities of dystroglycan. *Trends Biochem Sci 26(2):118-24*
- 61: Beck, K., Hunter, I., Engel, J. 1990. Structure and function of laminin: anatomy of a multidomain glycoprotein. *FASEB J. 4: 148-160*
- 62: Reichardt, L.F., Tomaselli, K.J. 1991. Extracellular matrix molecules and their receptors: functions in neural development. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* 14:531-570
- 63: Durbeej, M., Campbell, K.P. Biochemical characterization of the epithelial dystroglycan complex. J. Biol. Chem. 274(37):26609-16
- 64: Yamada, H., Chiba, A., Endo, T., Kobata, A., Anderson, L.V., Hori, H., Fukuta-Ohi,
 H., Kanazawa, I., Campbell, K.P., Shimizu, T., Matsumura, K. 1996. Characterization of
 dp6troglycan-laminin interaction in peripheral nerve. J. Neurochem. 66(4):1518-24
- 65: Regele, H.M., Fillipovic, E., Langer, B., Poczewki, H., Kraxberger, I., Bittner, R.E., Kerjaschki, D. 2000. Glomerular expression of dystroglycans is reduced in minimal

change nephrosis but not in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 11(3):403-12

- 66: Tsen, G., Halfter, W., Kroger S., Cole, G.J. 1995. Agrin is a heparin sulfate proteoglycan. J. Biol. Chem. 270:3392-3399
- 67: Valenzuela, D.M., Stitt, T.N., DiStefano, P.S., Rojas, E., Mattsson, K., Compton,
 D.L., Nunez, L., Park, J.S., Stark, J.L., Gies, D.R. 1995. Receptor Tyrosine Kinase
 Specific For the Skeletal Muscle Lineage: Expression In Embryonic Muscle, at the
 Neuromuscular Junction, and after Injury. *Neuron 15: 573-584*
- 68: Glass, D.J., Bowen, D.C., Stitt, T.N., Radziejewski, C., Bruno, J., Ryan, T.E., Gies, D.R., Shah ,S., Mattsson, K., Burden, S.J., DiStefano, P.S., Valenzuela, D.M., DeChiara, T.M., Yancopoulos, G.D. 1996. Agrin acts via a MuSK receptor complex. *Cell* 85(4):513-23
- 69: Gee, S.H., Montanaro, F., Lindenbaum, M.H., Carbonetto, S. 1994. Dystroglycan-a, a Dystrophin-Associated Glycoprotein, Is a Functional Agrin Receptor. *Cell* 77:675-686
- 70: Campanelli, J.T., Roberds, S.L., Campbell, K.P., Scheller, R.H. 1994. A role for dystrophin-associated glycoproteins and utrophin in agrin-induced AChR clustering. *Cell* 77:663-674
- 71: Sugiyama, J., Bowen, D.C., Hall, Z.W. 1994. Dystroglycan binds nerve and muscle agrin. *Neuron* 13:103-115
- 72: Bowe, M.A., Deyst, K.A., Leszyk, J.D., Fallon, J.R. 1994. Identification and purification of an agrin receptor from Torpedo postsynaptic membranes: a heteromeric complex related to the dystroglycans. *Neuron* 12:1173-1180

- 73: Denzer, A.J., Brandenberger, R., Gesemann, M., Chiquet, M., Ruegg, M.A. 1997. Agrin binds to the nerve-muscle basal lamina via laminin. *J. Cell Biol.* 137:671-683
- 74: Hopf, C., Hoch, W. 1996. Agrin Binding to α-Dystroglycan. J. Biol. Chem. 271(9):
 5231-5236.
- 75: DeChiara, T.M., Bowen, D.C., Valenzuela, D.M., Simmons, M.V., Poueymirou, W.T., Thomas, S., Kinetz, E., Compton, D.L., Rojas, E., Park, J.S., Smith, C., DiStefano, P.S., Glass, D.J., Burden, S.J., Yancopoulos, G.D. 1996. The receptor tyrosine kinase MuSK is required for neuromuscular junction formation in vivo. *Cell 85:* 501-512.
- 76: Montanaro, F., Gee, S.H., Jacobson, C., Lindenbaum, M.H., Frohner, S.C., Carbonetto, S. 1998. Laminin and alpha-dystroglycan mediate acetylcholine receptor aggregation via a MuSK-independent pathway. *J. Neurosci.* 18:1250-1260
- 77: Sugiyama, J.E., Glass, D.J., Yancopoulos, G.D., Hall, Z.W. 1997. Laminin–induced acetylcholine receptor clustering; an alternative pathway. *J. Cell Biol.* 139:181-191.
- 78: Lin, W., Burgess, R.W., Dominguez, B., Pfaff, S.L., Sanes, J.R., Lee, K.F. 2001. Distinct roles of nerve and muscle in postsynaptic differentiation of the neuromuscular synapse. *Nature 410(6832):1057-64*
- 79: Cohen, I.R., Grassel, S., Murdoch, A.D., Iozzo, R.V. 1993. Structural characterization of the complete human perlecan gene and its promoter. *PNAS USA*. 90:10404-10408
- 80: Noona, D.M., Fulle, A., Valente, P., Cai, S., Horigan, E., Sasaki, M., Yamada, Y., Hassell, J.R. 1991. The complete sequence of perlecan, a basement membrane heparin sulfate proteoglycan, reveals extensive similarity with laminin A chain, low density

lipoprotein-receptor, and the neural cell adhesion molecule. J. Biol. Chem. 266:22939-22947.

- 81: Talts, J.F., Andac, Z., Gohring, W., Brancaccio, A., Timpl, R. 1999. Binding of the G domains of laminin alpha1 and alpha2 chains and perlecan to heparin, sulfatides, alpha-dystroglycan and several extracellular matrix proteins. *EMBO J.* 18(4):863-70
- 82: Hohenester, E., Tisi, D., Talts, J.F., Timpl, R. 1999. The crystal structure of a lamininG-like module reveals the molecular basis of alpha-dystroglycan binding to laminins,perlecan, and agrin. *Mol Cell* 4(5):783-92
- 83: Anderson, M.J., Fambrough, D.M. 1983. Aggregates of acetylcholine receptors are associated with plaques of a basal lamina heparan sulfate proteoglycan on the surface of skeletal muscle fibers. *J. Cell Biol.* 97(5 Pt 1):1396-411
- 84: Gautam, M., Noakes, P.G., Mudd, J., Nichol, M., Chu, G.C., Sanes, J.R., Merlie, J.P.
 1995. Failure of postsynaptic specialization to develop at neuromuscular junction of rapsyn-deficient mice. *Nature* 377:232-236
- 85: Cartaudd, A., Coutant, S., Petrucci, T.C., Cartaud, J. 1998. Evidence for in situ and in vitro association between β-dystroglycan and subsynaptic 43 K rapsyn protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:11321-11326
- 86: Bartoli, M., Ramarao, M.K., Cohen, J.B. 2001. Interactions of the rapsyn ring-h2 domain with dystroglycan. J. Biol. Chem. 276(27):24911-7.
- 87: Apel, E.D., Roberds, S.L., Campbell, K.P., Merlie, J.P. 1995. Rapsyn may function as a link between the acetylcholine receptor and the agrin-binding dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex. *Neuron* 15(1):115-26

- 88: Cohen, M.W., Jacobson, C., Godfrey, E.W., Campbell, K.P., Carbonetto, S. 1995.
 Distribution of alpha-dystroglycan during embryonic nerve-muscle synaptogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 129(4):1093-101
- 89: Jacobson, C., Cote, P.D., Rossi, S.G., Rotundo, R.L., Carbonetto, S. 2001. The dystroglycan complex is necessary for stabilization of acetylcholine receptor clusters at neuromuscular junctions and formation of the synaptic basement membrane. *J. Cell Biol.* 152(3):435-50
- 90: Gesemann, M., Cavalli, V., Denzer, A.J., Brancaccio, A., Schumacher, B., Ruegg,
 M.A. 1996. Alternative splicing of agrin alters its binding to heparin, dystroglycan, and
 the putative agrin receptor. *Neuron 16(4):755-67*
- 91: Schlessinger, J., Ullrich, A. 1992. Growth factor signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Neuron 9:383-391*.
- 92: Pawson, T., Schlessinger, J. 1993. SH2 and SH3 domains. Curr Biol 3:4345-442
- 93: Mayer, B.J., Hamaguchi, M., Hanafusa, H. 1988. A novel viral oncogene with structural similarity to phospholipase C. *Nature 332: 272-275*.
- 94: Schlessinger, J. 1994. SH2/SH3 signaling proteins. *Current Opinion in Generics and Development 4:25-30.*
- 95: Mccormick, F., 1993. How receptors turn ras on. Nature 363:15-16.
- 96: Schlessinger, J. 2000. Cell Signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 103:211-225.
- 97: Karin, M., Hunter, T., 1995. Transcriptional control by protein phosphorylation: signal transmission from the cell surface to the nucleus. *Curr. Biol.* 5:747-757.
- 98:Hunter, T., 2000. Signaling-2000 and beyond. Cell 100:113-127.

- 99: Waskiewicz, A.J., Copper, J.A. 1995. Mitogen and stress response pathways: MAPkinase cascades and phosphatase regulation in mammals and yeast. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 7:798-805
- 100: Madhani, H.D., Fink, G.R. 1998. The riddle of MAP kinase signaling specificity. *Trends Genet.* 14: 151-155.
- 101: Davis, R.J. 2000. Signal transduction by the JNK group of MAP kinases. *Cell* 103:239-252.
- 102: Yang, B., Daniel, P., Motto, D., Meyer, J., Koretzky, G., Campbell, K.P. 1995. SH3
 Domain-mediated Interaction of Dystroglycan and Grb2. J. Biol. Chem. 270(20):11711-11714.
- 103: Cavaldesi, M., Macchia, G., Barca, S., Defilippi, P., Tarone, G., Petrucci, T. 1999. Association of the dystroglycan complex isolated from bovine brain synaptosome with proteins involved in signal transduction. *J. Neurochem.* 72:1648-1655.
- 104: James, M., Nuttall, A., Iisley, J.L., Ottersbach, K., Tinsley, J.M., Sudol, M., Winder,
 S.J. 2000. Adhesion-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of β-dystroglycan regulates its interaction with utrophin. *J. Cell Sci.* 113: 1717-1726
- 105: Severs, N.J. 1988. Caveolae: static inpocketings of the plasma membrane, dynamic vesicles or plain artifact? *J. Cell Sci. 90 (Pt 3):341-8*
- 106: Smart, E.J., Graf, G.A., McNiven, M.A., Sessa, W.C., Engelman, J.A., Scherer,
 P.E., Okamoto, T., Lisanti, M.P. 1999. Caveolins, Liquid-Ordered Domains, and Signal
 Transduction. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 19:7289-7304.
- 107: Anderson, R.G.W. 1998. The caveolae membrane system. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 67:199-225.

108: Scherer, P.E., Okamoto, T., Chun, M., Nishimoto, I., Lodish, H.F., Lisanti, M.P. Identification, sequence, and expression of caveolin-2 defines a caveolin gene family. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 1996.* 93:131-135.

109: Glenney, J.R., Soppet, D. 1992. Sequence and Expression of Caveolin, a Protein Component of Caveolae Plasma Membrane Domains Phosphorylated on Tyrosine in Rous Sarcoma Virus- Transformed Fibroblasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89:10517-10521

110: Tang, Z., Scherer, P.E., Okamoto, T., Song, K., Chu, C., Kohtz, D.S., Nishimoto, I., Lodish, H.F., Lisanti, M.P. 1996. Molecular Cloning of Caveolin-3, a Novel Member of the Caveolin Gene Family Expressed Predominantly in Muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:2255-2261.

111: Okamoto, T., Schlegel, A., Scherer, P.E., Lisanti, M.P. 1998. Caveolins, a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing preassembled signaling complexes at the plasma membrane. *J. Biol. Chem.*273(10):5419-5422.

112: Scherer, P.E., Tang, Z., Chun. M.Y., Sargiacomo, M., Lodish, H.F., Lisanti, M.P.
1995. Caveolin Isoforms Differ in Their N-terminal Protein Sequence and Subcellular
Distribution. J. Biol. Chem. 270(27): 16395-16401

113: Sargiacomo, M., Scherer, P.E., Tang, Z., Kubler, E., Song, K.S., Sanders, M.C., Lisanti, M.P. 1995. Oligomeric Structure of Caveolin: Implications for Caveolae Membrane Organization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92: 9407-9411*

114: Monier, S., Parton, R.G., Vogel, F., Behlke, J., Henske, A., Kurzchalia, T.V. VIP21-caveolin, a membrane protein constituent of the caveolar coat, oligomerizes in vivo and in vitro. *Mol. Biol. Cell 6(7): 911-927*

115: Scherer, P.E., Lewis, R.Y., Volonte, D., Engelman, J.A., Galbiati, F., Couet, J., Kohtz, D.S., van Donselaar, E., Peters, P., Lisanti, M.P. 1997. Cell-type and tissue-specific expression of caveolin-2. Caveolins 1 and 2 co-localize and form a stable hetero-oligomeric complex in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272(46):29337-46

116: Murata, M., Peranen, J., Schreiner, R., Wieland, F., Kurzchalia, T.V., Simons, K. 1995. VIP21/caveolin is a cholesterol-binding protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 92(22):10339-43

- 117: Shaul, P.W., Anderson, R.G. 1998. Role of plasmalemmal caveolae in signaling transduction. *Am J Physiol 275:L843-L851*.
- 118: Oh, P., McIntosh, D.P., Schnitzer, J.E. 1998. Dynamin at the neck of caveolae mediates their budding to form transport vesicles by GTP-driven fission from the plasma membrane of endothelium. *J. Cell Biol.* 141(1):101-14
- 119: Henley, J.R., Krueger, E.W., Oswald, B.J., McNiven, M.A. 1998. Dynaminmediated internalization of caveolae. J. Cell Biol. 141(1):85-99
- 120: Sotgia, F., Lee, J.K., Das, K., Bedford, M., Petrucci, T.C., Macioce, P., Sargiacomo,
 M., Bricarelli, F.D., Minetti, C., Sudol, M., Lisanti, M.P. 2000. Caveolin-3 directly
 interacts with the C-terminal tail of beta-dystroglycan. Identification of a central WWlike domain within caveolin family members. J. Biol. Chem. 275(48):38048-58

121: Minetti, C., Sotgia, F., Bruno, C., Scartezzini, P., Broda, P., Bado, M., Masetti, E., Mazzocco, M., Egeo, A., Donati, M.A., Volonte, D., Galbiati, F., Cordone, G., Bricarelli, F.D., Lisanti, M.P., Zara, F. 1998. Mutations in the caveolin-3 gene cause autosomal dominant limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *Nat Genet* 18(4):365-8

122: McNally, E.M., de Sa Moreira, E., Duggan, D.J., Bonnemann, C.G., Lisanti, M.P.,
Lidov, H.G., Vainzof, M., Passos-Bueno, M.R., Hoffman, E.P., Zatz, M., Kunkel, L.M.
1998. Caveolin-3 in muscular dystrophy. *Hum Mol Genet* 7(5):871-7

- 123: Kunkel, L.M. 1999. Caveolin-3 deficiency as a cause of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *J Child Neurol* 4(1):33-4
- 124: Herrmann, R., Straub, V., Blank, M., Kutzick, C., Franke, N., Jacob, E.N., Lenard,
 H.G., Kroger, S., Voit, T. 2000. Dissociation of the dystroglycan complex in caveolin-3deficient limb girdle muscular dystrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9(15):2335-40
- 125: Galbiati, F., Engelman, J.A., Volonte, D., Zhang, X.L., Minetti, C., Li, M., Hou, H. Jr, Kneitz, B., Edelmann, W., Lisanti, M.P. 2001. Caveolin-3 null mice show a loss of caveolae, changes in the microdomain distribution of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, and t-tubule abnormalities. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276(24):21425-33
- 126: Williamson, R.A., Henry, M.D., Daniels, K.J., Hrstka, R.F., Lee, J.C., Sunada, Y.,
 Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Campbell, K.P. 1997. Dystroglycan is essential for early
 embryonic development: disruption of Reichert's membrane in Dag1-null mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 6(6):831-41
- 127: Cote, P.D., Moukhles, H., Lindenbaum, M., Carbonetto, S. 1999. Chimaeric mice deficient in dystroglycans develop muscular dystrophy and have disrupted myoneural synapses. *Nat Genet* 23(3):338-42
- 128: Deconinck, A.E., Potter, A.C., Tinsley, J.M., Wood, S.J., Vater, R., Young, C., Metzinger, L., Vincent, A., Slater, C.R., Davies, K.E. 1997. Postsynaptic abnormalities at the neuromuscular junctions of utrophin-deficient mice. *J. Cell Biol.* 136(4):883-94

- 129: Deconinck, A.E., Rafael, J.A., Skinner, J.A., Brown, S.C., Potter, A.C., Metzinger, L., Watt, D.J., Dickson, G., Tinsley, J.M., Davies, K.E. 1997. Utrophin-Dystrophin-Deficient Mice as a Model for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Cell* 90:717–727
 130: Grady, R.M., Merlie, J.P., Sanes, J.R. 1997. Subtle neuromuscular defects in utrophin-deficient mice. *J. Cell Biol.* 136:871-882.
- 131: Grady, R.M., Teng, H., Nichol, M.C., Cunningham, J.C., Wilkinson, R.S., Sanes,
- J.R. 1997. Skeletal and Cardiac Myopathies in Mice lacking Utrophin and Dystrophin: A Model for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Cell* 90:729-738.
- 132: Imamura, M., Araishi, K., Noguchi, S., Ozawa, E. 2000. A sarcoglycan–dystroglycan complex anchors Dp116 and utrophin in the peripheral nervous system. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9(20):3091-3100
- 133: Saito, F., Masaki, T., Kamakura, K., Anderson, L.V., Fujita, S., Fukuta-Ohi, H., Sunada, Y., Shimizu, T., Matsumura, K. 1999. Characterization of the transmembrane molecular architecture of the dystroglycan complex in schwann cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274(12):8240-6
- 134: Rambukkana, A., Yamada, H., Zanazzi, G., Mathus, T., Salzer, J.L., Yurchenco,
 P.D., Campbell, K.P., Fischetti, V.A. 1998. Role of alpha-dystroglycan as a Schwann cell receptor for Mycobacterium leprae. *Science* 282(5396):2076-9
- 135: Sunada, Y., Bernier, S.M., Utani, A., Yamada, Y., Campbell, K.P. 1995.
 Identification of a novel mutant transcript of laminin alpha 2 chain gene responsible for muscular dystrophy and dysmyelination in dy2J mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 4(6):1055-61
 136: Xu, H., Wu, X.R., Wewer, U.M., Engvall, E. 1994. Murine muscular dystrophy caused by a mutation in the laminin alpha 2 (Lama2) gene. *Nat Genet* 8(3):297-302

- 137: Blake, D.J., Hawkes, R., Benson, M.A., Beesley, P.W. 1999. Different dystrophinlike complexes are expressed in neurons and glia. *J. Cell Biol.* 147(3):645-658.
- 138: Imamura, M., Ozawa, E. 1998. Differential expression of dystrophin isoforms and utrophin during dibutyryl-cAMP-induced morphological differentiation of rat brain astrocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 95(11):6139-44
- 139: Gorecki, D.C., Derry, J.M., Barnard, E.A. 1994. Dystroglycan: brain localization and chromosome mapping in the mouse. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 3(9):1589-1597.
- 140: Tian, M., Jacobson, C., Gee, S.H., Campbell, K.P., Carbonetto, S., Jucker, M. 1996.
 Dystroglycan in the cerebellum is a laminin alpha 2-chain binding protein at the glial-vascular interface and is expressed in Purkinje cells. *Eur J Neurosci 8(12):2739-47*
- 141: Zaccaria, M.L., Di Tommaso, F., Brancaccio, A., Paggi, P., Petrucci, T.C. 2001.Dystroglycan distribution in adult mouse brain: a light and electron microscopy study.*Neuroscience 104(2):311-24*
- 142: Khurana, T.S., Watkins, S.C., Kunkel, L.M. 1992. The subcellular distribution of chromosome 6-encoded dystrophin related protein in the brain. *J. Cell Biol.* 119:357-366.
- 143: Blake, D.J., Hawkes, R., Benson, M.A., Beesley, P.W. 1999. Different Dystrophinlike Complexes Are Expressed in Neurons and Glia. *J. Cell Biol.* 147(3):645-657.
- 144: Blake, D.J., Nawrotzki, R., Peters, M.F., Froehner, S.C., Davies, K.E. 1996. Isoform diversity of dystrobrevin, the murine 87-kDa postsynaptic protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271(13):7802-10
- 145: Sadoulet-Puccio, H.M., Khurana, T.S., Cohen, J.B., Kunkel, L.M. 1996. Cloning and characterization of the human homologue of a dystrophin related phosphoprotein

found at the Torpedo electric organ post-synaptic membrane. Hum. Mol. Genet. 5(4):489-96

146: Suzuki, A., Yoshida, M., Ozawa, E. 1995. Mammalian alpha 1- and beta 1syntrophin bind to the alternative splice-prone region of the dystrophin COOH terminus. *J. Cell Biol.* 128(3):373-81

147: Chan, Y.M., Bonnemann, C.G., Lidov, H.G., Kunkel, L.M. 1998. Molecular organization of sarcoglycan complex in mouse myotubes in culture. *J. Cell Biol.* 143(7):2033-44

148: Robert, R.G., Freeman, T.C., Kendall, E., Vetrie, D.L., Dixon, A.K., Shaw-Smith, C., Bone, Q., Bobrow. M. 1996. Characterization of DRP2, a Novel human dystrophin homologue. *Nat. Genet.* 13:223-236.

149: Dixon, A.K., Tait, T.M., Campbell, E.A., Bobrow, M., Roberts, R.G., Freeman, T.C.
1997. Expression of the dystrophin-related protein 2 (DRP2) transcript in the mouse. J.
Mol. Biol. 270:551-558

150: Roberts, R.G., Sheng, M. 2000. Association of dystrophin related protein 2 (DRP2) with postsynaptic densities in rat brain. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.* 16:674-685

151: Sherman, D.L., Fabrizi, C., Gillespie, S., Brophy, P.J. 2001. Specific Disruption of a Schwann Cell Dystrophin-Related Protein Complex in a Demyelinating Neuropathy. *Neuron* 30:677-687.

152: Noakes, P.G., Phillips, W.D., Hanley, T.A., Sanes, J.R., Merlie, J.P. 1993. 43 kD protein and acetylcholine receptors colocalize during the initial stage of neuromuscular formation in vivo. *Dev. Biol 155:275-280*

153: Burden, S.J., Depalma. R.L., Gottesman, G.S. 1983. Crosslinking of proteins in acetylcholine receptor-rich membrane:association between the beta-subunit and the 43 kd subsynaptic protein. *Cell* 35:687-692

154: Froehner, S.C., Luetje, C.W., Scotland, P.B., Patrick, J. 1990. The postsynaptic 43 k protein clusters muscle nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in Xenopus oocytes. *Neuron 5:403-410*

155: Apel, E.D., Glass, D.J., Moscoso, L.M., Yancopoulos, G.D., Sanes, J.R. 1997. Rapsyn is required for MuSK signaling and recruits synaptic components to a MuSKcontaining scaffold. *Neuron* 18:623-635.

156: Emery, A.E.H. 1993. Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy, Oxford University Press.

157: Vaillend, C., Rendon, A., Misslin, R., Ungerer, A. 1995. Influence of dystrophingene mutation on mdx mouse behavior. I. Retention deficits at long delays in spontaneous alternation and bar-pressing tasks. *Behav Genet* 25(6):569-79

158: Sesay, A.K., Errington, M.L, Levita, L., Bliss, T.V. 1996. Spatial learning and hippocampal long-term potentiation are not impaired in *mdx* mice. *Neurosci Lett* 211(3):207-10

159: Vaillend, C., Billard, J.M., Claudepierre, T., Rendon, A., Dutar, P., Ungerer, A. 1998. Spatial discrimination learning and CA1 hippocampal synaptic plasticity in mdx and mdx3cv mice lacking dystrophin gene products. *Neuroscience* 86(1):53-66

160: Pillers, D.M., Bulman, D.E., Weleber, R.G., Sigesmund, D.A., Musarella, M.A., Powell, B.R., Murphey, W.H., Westall, C., Panton, C., Becker, L.E., et al. 1993.

Dystrophin expression in the human retina is required for normal function as defined by electroretinography. *Nat Genet* 4(1):82-6

161: D'Souza, V.N., Nguyen, T.M., Morris, G.E., Karges, W., Pillers, D.A., Ray, P.N.

1995. A novel dystrophin isoform is required for normal retinal electrophysiology. *Hum Mol Genet* 4(5):837-42

162: Koenig, M., Hoffman, E.P., Bertelson, C.J., Monaco, A.P., Feener, C., Kunkel, L.M. 1987. Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and altered individuals. *Cell 50(3): 509-517*

Chapter 2

The Expression Profile of Dystroglycan

in Neurons

Introduction

In mature muscle membrane α - and β -dystroglycan are uniformly expressed along the sarcolemma and also concentrated at neuromuscular junctions. Indeed dystroglycan colocalizes with postsynaptic AChRs and clustered agrin as early as AChR clusters begin to form during NMJ formation (13). As indicated by experiments done by P. Cote, C. Jacobson and coworkers (25,71), dystroglycan functions in postsynaptic maturation and maintenance of neuromuscular junctions. The more general role for dystroglycan is to serve as a linkage between the intracellular dystrophin cytoskeleton, actin and extracellular matrix. α - and β -DG are also expressed in peripheral myelin (26), where β -DG is associated with one of the alternatively spliced dystrophin isoforms, Dp-116, and α -DG is connected to laminin-2 in the basal lamina around the Schwa cell (28). In astrocytes, β -DG is thought to associate with Dp71 or utrophin during cell differentiation (44). In the cerebellum α -dystroglycan is non-uniformly expressed in Purkinje cell bodies and dendrites. It is colocalized with the laminin α_2 chain at the glial-vascular interface, suggesting a role for dystroglycan in maintaining the blood-brain barrier (31). In other regions of brain such as retina, hippocampus and striatum, dystroglycan is also expressed (49). Despite this wealth of data regarding dystroglycan in glial cells and brain, there are still many fundamental questions concerning the expression, and especially the distribution and function of α - and β -dystroglycan in neurons. To address these questions, I have designed experiments to visualize dystroglycan in individual neurons by using primary neuronal cultures dissected from rat hippocampi.

Materials and Methods

Antibodies

The polyclonal rabbit dystrophin antibody is a gift from Dr. Paul Holland's lab and was used at 1:500 dilution (71). The monoclonal mouse β -dystroglycan antibody was purchased from Novocastra Laboratories, Ltd. and was used at 1:250 dilution. Mouse monoclonal anti-MAP2 antibody was purchased from Sigma and diluted 1:2000 for immunocytochemistry. Mouse monoclonal anti-synaptophysin antibody was from Mannheim Biochemicals and was used at 1:50 dilution for Boehringer immunocytochemistry. Anti-utrophin mouse monoclonal antibody was purchased from Novocastra Laboratories, Ltd and used at 1:50 for immunoblotting. A mouse monoclonal anti α -dystroglycan antibody was generated and characterized by this lab and was used at 1:50 dilution for immunoblotting (69). The secondary horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse and goat anti-rabbit antisera (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) were used at 1:2000 and 1:4000 dilution respectively for immunoblotting. Oregon Green labeled goat anti rabbit (Molecular Probes) and Rhodamine(TRITC)-conjugated goat anti-mouse antisera (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) were both used at 1:100 dilution for immunocytochemistry.

Immunolocalization in rat brain hippocampal cultures

Hippocampi of postnatal day 1-3 rats were dissected and dissociated by papain (*Worthington Inc.*) treatment for 1 hour following trituration in neurobasal media (*Gibco*) containing 0.1 mg/ml of DNAase. The dissociated cells were plated into chamber slides

(*Nalge Nunc International*) that had been first coated (2-4 hrs) with 0.5 mg/ml of poly-Dlysine and 30 μ g/ml of laminin, and the neurons in the chamber slides were allowed to grow in B27-supplemented neurobasal medium for 3-4 weeks with addition of 5 μ M of cytosine arabinoside for the first 4 days and 2 μ M for additional one week to kill dividing cells.

Coverslips containing the cultured neurons are removed from wells for immunostaining, and the cells were washed once with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and fixed in methanol at 20°C for 20 minutes. The fixed cells were then "blocked" with 5% horse serum for 1 hour, followed by 1 hour of primary antibody incubation, and three washes with blocking solution. The neurons were then incubated with secondary antibody for 1 hour followed by 3 washes with blocking solution. Anti β -dystroglycan rabbit polyclonal antibody was used at concentration of about 1µg/ml, mouse monoclonal MAP2 antibody (*SIGMA*) was diluted 1:2000, and mouse monoclonal anti-synaptophysin antibody (*Boehringer Mannheim Biochemica*) was diluted 1:100. Coverslips were mounted on the chamber slides with Immuno Floure Mounting Medium (*ICN Biomedicals*). Photomicrographs were taken with ZEISS Axioskop immunofluorescence microscope. All the micrographs were scanned and processed under identical conditions by computer with Adobe Photoshop and Adobe Illustrator software.

Brain Extracts and SDS-PAGE

Rat brains were dissected on ice, and homogenized in a glass/teflon homogenizer in phosphate-buffered saline (pH7.2) containing 1x protease inhibitor cocktail (*Boehringer Mannheim*). After homogenization, the protein concentration was determined (Bio-Rad protein assay kit), and 30 μ g of homogenate were mixed with 1/3 volume of sample buffer (New England Biolabs) containing 2% SDS, 10% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenol blue and DTT. The samples were then boiled 5 minutes before loading for SDS-PAGE. The samples (20µg) were loaded into the wells of a SDS-PAGE electrophoresis system and electrophoresed on 5 or 7.5 % polyacrylamide gel according to method of Laemmli (72) in a buffer containing 25mM of Tris-HCL (pH8.2), 200 mM of glycine and 0.05% SDS. Pre-stained and unstained broad range molecular weight markers (New England Biolabs) are loaded at the same time. The samples are electroblotted (100mV, 10mA) onto a supported nitrocellulose membrane in a buffer containing 20% methanol, 10 mM Tris-HCL (pH8.0) and 2.5 mM glycine. The nitrocellulose filters are blocked for 1hr in a solution containing 5% skim milk, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCL (pH7.5) and 0.1%Tween-20. Subsequently the appropriate primary antibody is incubated with the membrane overnight in the milk solution, and then the membrane is rinsed 3 times (10 minutes each) in washing buffer (150 mM NaCL, 10 mM Tris, and 0.1%Tween-20). After the rinsing, the membrane was labeled by secondary antibody conjugated to HRP for 1 hour, followed by 4 times of washing 15 minutes each. The signal was revealed by chemiluminescence (ECL from NEN) for 60 seconds and exposure to Kodak autoradiographic films.

Preparation of anti β -dystroglycan antibodies

The 0.2 mg of synthetic polypeptide (PKNMPYRSPPPYVP) which represents the last 15 amino acids of the dystroglycan C-terminus were conjugated to keyhole limpet hemacyanin (KLH), mixed with 0.5ml of complete Freund's Adjuvant (Gilbco) and 0.3ml

sterilized distilled H₂O, and injected into rabbits subcutaneously. Two weeks later, another 0.2mg of polypeptides were injected with incomplete Freund's Adjuvant (Gilbco). After another two weeks, 15ml of rabbit blood was taken and incubated at 37° C for 1 hour to inactivate the complement system, after the incubation, the blood was left at 4°C degree overnight, and then centrifuged at 8000 x g for 15 minutes. The serum was collected and saved at -80° C.

The agarose beads that have been coupled with the peptide listed above were prepared by Research Genetics. 2ml of that 50% agarose slurry was poured into a 10 ml column and the final volume of the agarose bed in the column was 1 ml. 1 ml of serum was mixed with 9 ml of 10 mM Tris-HCL (pH7.5) and loaded onto the column preequilibrated with 10 ml of 10mM Tris-HCL (pH7.5). The follow-through was collected and re-loaded into the column two more times. After that, the column was washed with 10 ml of 10 mM Tris-HCL (pH7.5) and 10 ml of Tris-HCl (pH7.5) containing 500 mM of NaCL. Then the bound proteins were eluted with 3 ml of 100 mM glycine (pH2.5) and the eluate was directly collected in 300 µl of 1M Tris-HCL (pH8.0) to neutralize the pH. The column was then washed with 10 ml of Tris-HCl (pH8.8). Finally 3 ml of triethylamine (pH11.5) was used, and the eluate was collected in 300µl of 1M Tris-HCl (ph8.0). The column was finally washed with 10 ml of Tris-HCL (pH7.5) and stored in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.5) containing 0.02% sodium azide. The two fractions of eluent were pooled and subject to dialysis against 4L of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) overnight, and 0.01%BSA was added to the antibody to prevent nonspecific binding in western blots. All the procedures were done at 4°C degree. The concentration of the antibody was determined by spectrophotometry at OD280 before BSA was added. The specificity of the purified antibody was tested by western blots.

Results

1: Specificity of the polyclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibodies

Equal amounts of rat brain homogenate (about 20 μ g each) were subject to SDS-PAGE, transferred and probed with monoclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibody (Figure 1, lane B), or polyclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibody (lane A) or a secondary antibody alone (lane C), and visualized with HRP labeled goat-anti-rabbit antibody (lane A and C), or HRP labeled goat-anti-mouse antibody (lane B). The polyclonal antibody recognizes a major band at 43 kDa in the homogenate, which corresponds well to the band recognized by the commercial monoclonal antibody (Figure 1, lane B) and the known apparent molecular weight of β -dystroglycan (1). The lower bands at the about 25 kDa recognized by both monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies are likely degradation product of the 43 kDa β -dystroglycan. The control lane (lane C) shows no bands. Taken together, these results indicate that the purified antibody is specific for β -dystroglycan. This antibody was also used in previous studies (25), and its specificity was confirmed by preabsorption experiment in which the addition of peptide used for immunization abolished the immunoreactivity of β -DG in muscle sections (25).

2: β -Dystroglycan is distributed in cell bodies, dendrites and axons, and present in a punctate pattern in some of these regions of hippocampal neurons (10 day) in culture.

63
Cultured hippocampal neurons were labeled first with antibodies to the dendritic marker protein, microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP-2), (Figure 2.A and B). At 10 days in culture, most of cells in dish are of neuronal origin as indicated by MAP-2 staining. When the polyclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibodies were used (Figure 2C), immunostaining was seen in neuronal bodies, and dendrites (Figure 2B and C). Along with the expressions in cell bodies and dendrites, dystroglycan staining is also present as bright puncta, mainly on the distal dendritic shafts and on the dendritic spines (Fig.2.C). It is well known that distal dendrites are often synaptic sites, thus these clusters might be synaptic (53, 54, 55). The soma and some proximal dendrites also have dystroglycanstained puncta, but not as many as on the distal dendrites (Figure 2.C). We also observed sites of enrichment along dendritic shafts, and it is possible that some or all of these sites correspond to spines oriented perpendicular to the culture substrate. In addition to dendrite and cell body staining, there is also observed dystroglycan staining in the axons of neurons where MAP-2 staining is negative but β -dystroglycan staining is positive and present as puncta (arrows in Figure 2. B and Figure 2.C). In each experiment cultures were treated with secondary antibody alone as a control, and in these control experiments, the fluorescent signal was always very weak and neurons cannot be visualized (not shown). Over five culture experiments have been done, and the Figure 2 is the representative of all experiments.

3: In 3 week old hippocampal cultures, dystroglycan expression is reduced in dendrites, and present as puncta, some of which colocalize with synaptophysin staining

Hippocampal neurons of 3 week old culture were double-labeled with antibodies to dystroglycan and the presynaptic marker, synaptophysin. Over 3 weeks in culture, dystroglycan staining was seen at cell bodies and in some regions of dendrites, and there is reduction in expression along dendritic shafts (Fig.3) although clusters of β -dystroglycan staining still can be seen long the neuronal processes (Fig.3). Synaptophysin staining appeared as puncta along processes. Some of the puncta of dystroglycan staining colocalize with synaptophysin staining (indicated by arrows and arrow-heads in Figure 3) indicating that in the 3 weeks cultures, dystroglycan is synaptically localized.

Discussion

Dystroglycan is a widely expressed protein, which has been found in membranes of muscle, epithelial cells, blood vessels, Schwann cells, astrocytes and Purkinje cells (31,46,47). However, there are few reports talking about the detailed expression pattern of β -dystroglycan in neurons in culture except for that of Belkin and Smalheiser (74) who pointed out that dystroglycan is enriched at focal adhesion sites and at growth cones of E17 rat hippocampal axons prior to synapse formation (74). Our results show that dystroglycan, in cultured hippocampal neurons, is highly expressed in the cell body, dendrite and that it forms clusters along the dendrites in 10 day old cultures. As in the previous report (74), our results indicate that β -dystroglycan is expressed in axons and present as puncta as well. In addition we show that in 10 day cultures, β -dystroglycan is expressed on dendrites. As the neurons grow older (3 weeks), preliminary studies indicate

that the dystroglycan expression pattern changes. Staining in cell body is still strong, but the staining in dendritic membrane is weaker although clusters are still seen on dendrites. This may suggest that dystroglycan is especially required during the processes of neuron maturation. At both stages, the dystroglycan staining is seen as puncta, and these puncta appear at times to be synaptic by their colocalization with synaptophysin, suggesting that dystroglycan may be a synaptic protein. However, only portion of these dystroglycan puncta correlate with synaptophysin staining, and only small portion of synaptophysinlabeled nerve terminals colocalize with dystroglycan puncta. This may indicate that only portion of dystroglycan is present at presynaptic sites and portion of it is at postsynaptic sites. Preliminary studies from others suggest that dystroglycan (both α -and β -) colocalize with GABAA receptor, a major inhibitory receptor in the hippocampus (72). Only two subunits ($\alpha 2$ and $\gamma 2$) of GABA_A receptor colocalize with dystroglycan in both hippocampal and spinal neurons in culture. These data further confirm our results that dystroglycan is expressed in neurons and present in some synapses. Future studies should address at what kind of post-synaptic sites dystroglycan is located, when β -dystroglycan clusters first appear (10 day or sooner), and whether dystroglycan is presynaptically, postsynaptically localized or both.

Chapter 3

Identification of A Novel Dystroglycan

Interacting Protein in Brain

Introduction

Dystroglycan is the core component protein of the DPC and consists of α and β subunits with multiple interacting proteins and various functions. The targeted complete disruption of the dystroglycan gene in mice is lethal and results in failure of development of Reichert's membrane(60). Reduced expression of this gene leads to muscular dystrophy and impairment of NMJs (71). The α and β subunits are produced by proteolytic cleavage of a precursor proteins of 97 kDa molecular mass (1,58,59) and are both glycosylated. In muscle sarcolemma, α -dystroglycan has been shown to bind to proteins of the basal lamina such as agrin, laminin, perlecan and biglycan (14,5,15). Intracellularly, the β -dystroglycan subunit with molecular weight of 43 kDa binds to dystrophin underneath the sarcolemma membrane (1), utrophin at neuromuscular junction, Grb2 an adapter protein (33), caveolin 3 in muscle and the AChR effector protein rapsyn (32) at NMJs. The dystrophin binding region of β -dystroglycan has been localized to the C-terminal 15 amino acids (880-895) (63,64), the binding region for the SH3 domain has been localized to the proline-riched region (7), and the possible rapsyn binding sites are between amino acid 787-819 (32). As a member of dystrophin associated protein complex, dystroglycan has also been found associated with syntrophin and dystrobrevin indirectly through dystrophin (1,4,12), it also associates with a group of transmembrane proteins called sarcoglycans, through a possible interaction between dystroglycan and δ -sarcoglycan (11,12).

In CNS, the DPC is different because of the distinctive tissue specific expressions of dystrophin isoforms (46), dystroglycan and others members. As demonstrated by Blake et al (34), Dp-71, syntrophin and alpha-1 dystrobrevin comprise the dystrophin

complex in glial cell membranes, and Dp-427, syntrophin, and beta-dystrobrevin comprise the dystrophin complex in neuronal membranes. However, the authors did not provide evidence showing dystroglycan is associated with dystrophin. In a separate experiment Hakima Moukhles had shown that β -DG in brain is associated with individual dystrophin isoforms with or without syntrophin in different parts of brain (76). Considering the cognitive impairment in DMD and BMD patients (46), it would be essential to be sure if, and how, dystroglycan is linked to dystrophin complex in CNS neurons or glial cells.

Dystroglycan appears concentrated in CNS synapses in culture (discussed above) and may function in CNS synapses as it does in neuromuscular junctions. Current evidence shows that dystroglycan is associated with the tyrosine kinase adapter protein Grb2 in synaptosomes (65) as in muscle, and also interacts with prion protein (66). It is plausible dystroglycan interacts with synaptic proteins because of its expression there and these interactions may be mediated by its proline-rich regions.

To begin to address these questions, I designed experiments to identify proteins that interact with β -dystroglycan biochemically. To accomplish this, rat hippocampi were dissected and extracted and antibody affinity chromatography was used to purify dystroglycan and any associated proteins. My data show that both α -dystroglycan and β -dystroglycan can be purified by this method and they are present in hippocampus in about the same ratio. Unlike in the muscle, I did not detect dystrophin and utrophin associated with dystroglycan. By staining the purified protein complex with Coomassie blue, we found several bands associated with dystroglycan that seem to be novel and specific with a prominent band located around 97 kDa.

Materials and Methods

Preparation of the Immunoaffinity Column

Polyclonal anti-dystroglycan antibody was purified as described in Material and Methods (Chapter 2). 2-3 ml of the antibody was dialyzed in 4 L of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at 4°C overnight. The antibody concentration was determined by spectrophotometer at OD-280, and 5mg of antibody in 2-3 ml of PBS were coupled to Affi-gel 10 matrix (Bio-Rad) according to recommendations of the company. Briefly, the Affi-gel 10 was thawed at room temperature for 30-60 minutes, and a 2 ml slurry of gel was poured into a funnel covered with filter paper and then rinsed with distilled water 3 times quickly. The beads were added to the antibody solution in a total volume less than 5ml at a concentration of 1-2 mg/ml for the antibody. This mixture was shaken for 4 hours at room temperature and transferred to a 10 ml column. The follow-through was collected and the column was washed 3 times with PBS. The protein concentration of the follow-through was determined and the coupling efficiency was calculated at about 78%. After that, the column was treated with 200mM ethanolamine at pH7.4 overnight to neutralize the capacity of the Affi-gel to bind additional proteins non-specifically. The column was washed with PBS 3X and stored 4°C at 0.02 % sodium azide in PBS for future use. Control columns had 5 mg of bovine serum albumin (BSA) or 5 mg of normal rabbit IgG (NRIgG) (SIGMA) coupled to 1 ml of Affi-gel beads by same procedure.

Hippocampal Extracts

Four rats were sacrificed and hippocampi of brains were dissected on ice. The dissected hippocampal tissue was homogenized 10 seconds for four times with a Polytron

tissue homogenizer in PBS containing 1% of sodium deoxylcholate (pH9.0), 0.5mM of CaCl2, and 1x protease inhibitor cocktail (*Boehringer Mannheim*). The homogenized tissue was incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes followed by addition of TritonX-100 to a final concentration of 0.5% in about 6 ml. After 2 hours of incubation at 4°C with occasional vortexing, the homogenates were centrifuged at 37,000x g for 30 minutes. The supernatant was collected and the protein concentration was detected with a Bio-Rad detergent compatible DC Protein Assay kit.

Immunoaffinity Chromatography

5 mg of above supernatant in about 2-3 mls were incubated with Affi-gel 10 coupled with β -dystroglycan antibody or BSA or rabbit immunoglobulin overnight with constant shaking. The conditions for washing and eluting are as follows: The unbound proteins were collected and the columns were each washed first with 3 ml of PBS, and then washed with 3 ml of PBS containing 1% of sodium deoxycholate, 0.5% Triton X-100 and 0.15 m sodium chloride. This was followed by washing with 3 ml of PBS with 1% sodium chloride, 0.5% Triton X-100, and 0.5 M of sodium chloride, and finally the columns were washed with 3 ml of PBS containing 5 mM of EDTA. The proteins still bound to the column were eluted with 0.1 M of glycine (pH2.5) into 0.3ml of 1M Tris-HCl (pH8.0). The columns then were equilibrated each with 10 ml of PBS and remaining proteins in the columns then eluted with 3 ml of 0.1M of triethylamine (pH11.5). Both glycine and triethylamine eluates were pooled, and all eluentes from columns were concentrated to equal volumes by centrifugal filter device from Centricon (*Millipore*), and subjected to further analysis.

Procedures for Coomassie Blue staining

Western blots were done as described above. After completion of SDS-PAGE, gels were incubated in 0.1% Coomassie Blue R250 in 10% acetic acid, 50% methanol, and 40% distilled H2O for a minimum of 1 hour with constant shaking. After the incubation, the gels were de-stained in 10% acetic acid, 50 % methanol, 40% of distilled H2O with at least two changes of solution for at least two hours until the gel background is clear. Then the gels were scanned into a computer with Adobe Photoshop software, documented and processed with Adobe Illustrator software. After the documentation of the gel, the individual bands were cut out and sent out for mass spectrometry.

Results

1: Characterization of Immunoaffinity columns

To first confirm that the columns are working and the conditions are right for purifying β -dystroglycan, I analyzed the eluate of all the columns for β -dystroglycan immunoreactivity. As shown in the Figure 4 in β -dystroglycan immunoblots, β dystroglycan is greatly enriched in the antibody column eluate (Lane β -DG Ab of Figure 4) when compared with the starting material (Lane H.H.). Moreover there is no β dystroglycan detected in eluentes of the normal rabbit IgG (NRIgG) and BSA control lanes (Lane NRIgG and BSA of Figure 4). This result indicates that hippocampal β dystroglycan specifically binds to the antibody column and is enriched following immunoaffinity chromatography.

2: Detection of other DPC members

I next asked if α -dystroglycan is present in the eluate with β -dystroglycan. As shown in the immunoblots with the antibody specific to α -dystroglycan (69), α dystroglycan is also greatly enriched by the β -dystroglycan immunoaffinity chromatography when compared with the pre-loading material (Figure 5; lane H.H.), and there is no α -dystroglycan detected in the control column (Figure 5; lane BSA). These data suggest that dystroglycan α - and β - are associated with each other in hippocampus as in muscle. I also asked if dystrophin and utrophin are associated with β -dystroglycan in hippocampus, As shown in Figure 6, with the polyclonal anti-dystrophin antibody which recognizes all dystrophin isoforms, we found that dystrophin is not detectable in the column eluate (lane B, figure 6.1), although several isoforms of dystrophin were detected in the starting material, including Dp71, Dp116, Dp140 and full length Dp427 (lane C, figure 6.1). Like dystrophin, utrophin is also undetectable in the eluate (lane B, figure 6.2), but the 395 kDa utrophin band is present in the starting material (lane c, figure 6.2). These data suggest that dystrophin/utrophin is not complexed with dystroglycan in this particular tissue or it is disrupted during extracting/purification.

3: Identification of a novel DPC in brain

To find out if there are any novel proteins that might be associated with β - and α dystroglycan, I stained with Coomassie blue gels loaded with equal amounts of eluents from each column. As shown in the Figure 7, there are several bands appearing in the lane of the antibody affinity column, but not in the normal rabbit IgG column or BSA column. One band is located around 97 kDa (lane 1,arrowhead). Since there is no band in the same position of the IgG control and BSA control, I consider that the protein located in this band is binding specifically to the anti dystroglycan antiserum. As there are no proteins of this size which have been reported to interact with β -dystroglycan, this protein located in 97 kDa is likely a novel protein. In addition there are two less prominent bands around 70 kDa and 32 kDa, that specifically associate with β -dystroglycan. In the β -DG antibody lane of figure 7, a 43 kDa band which is β -dystroglycan as indicated by β dystroglycan antibody (Figure 4) is also apparent. In addition to the Coomassie blue staining, silver stains have also been done in different eluents in two experiments. The 100 kDa band was constantly visible and there were no similar bands appearing in NRIgG and BSA lanes (Data not shown).

Discussion

In this study, I used immunoaffinity chromatography to purify β -dystroglycan from the hippocampus. β -dystroglycan and α -dystroglycan are both purified and enriched, and the degree of enrichment is similar for both. These data clearly indicate that α - and β -dystroglycan are biochemically linked, and with results from Chapter 2 it can be concluded that β -dystroglycan complexes with α -dystroglycan and this complex may constitute synaptic structure or function at CNS synapses.

As noted above, dystrophin/utrophin connects to β -dystroglycan to form part of a large DPC in muscle, and other reports indicate that there is a distinct cytoplasmic DPC in neurons and glial (34). Surprisingly, in our purified dystroglycan fraction, neither dystrophin nor utrophin was detected. This result implies that, in neurons and in glial

cells, dystroglycan might not form complex with dystrophin/utrophin, instead dystrophin may form an independent cytoplasmic complex with syntrophin and β -dystrobrevin, and might connect to plasma membrane through other protein(s). Indeed a report (44) showing dystroglycan is linked to Dp71 in brain was based on immunohistochemistry, and there is no direct biochemical evidence to support they are connected in astrocytes or neurons. This notion is consistent with the genetic evidence in muscle, where deficiency of dystroglycan in some muscle fibers has no effect on distributions of dystrophin, syntrophin and nNOs, and nor to their anchorage to sarcolemma (75). A previous report also showed that deletion of dystrophin binding site in the last 15 amino acid of β dystroglycan has no effect on localization of dystrophin to the plasma membrane (Society of Cell Biology Meeting 1999, Abstract from K. Campbell's lab). On the other hand the polyclonal antiserum used is made against the last 15 amino acid of dystroglycan, a region same for dystrophin to bind to dystroglycan, and this might disrupt dystrophin β dystroglycan interaction. In future studies, other antisera which do not recognize any of the binding sites in dystrophin and dystroglycan should be used to do immunoprecipitation to confirm the relationship in neurons or astrocytes, such as antibodies recognizing α -dystroglycan or antibody recognizing the N-terminal dystrophin/utrophin.

A number of proteins have been shown to bind to dystroglycan in skeletal muscle. In brain, however, few proteins have been found associated with dystroglycan. These include Grb2 (33,65) and the prion protein (40 kDa) (66). Very recently another protein neurexin- α has also been reported to physiologically complex with α -dystroglycan possibly at synapses (70). In my experiments, a new protein around 100 kDa appeared in

the purified dystroglycan fraction, which is likely a novel protein. I am presently obtaining protein sequence data to identify this potentially new protein and try to characterize the interaction.

In summary, this study shows that dystroglycan, both β and α , are neuronal proteins. They form a complex in hippocampal neurons and cluster in cell bodies, in axons, and along dendrites. Some of these clusters are localized at synaptic sites. This study does not support that dystrophin/utrophin is associated with dystroglycan in hippocampus, instead a new 100 kDa band has been found, which appears to be part of dystroglycan complex in brain.

REFERENCES

1: Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Ervasti, J.M., Leveille, C.J., Slaughter, C.A., Sernett, S.W., Campbell, K.P. 1992. Primary structure of dystrophin-associated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix. *Nature* 20;355(6362):696-702

2: Ervasti, J.M., Ohlendieck, K., Kahl, S.D., Gaver, M.G., Campbell, K.P. 1990 Deficiency of a glycoprotein component of the dystrophin complex in dystrophic muscle. *Nature 345(6273):315-9.*

3: Ohlendieck, K., Campbell, K.P. 1991. Dystrophin-associated proteins are greatly reduced in skeletal muscle from mdx mice. *J. Cell Biol.* 115(6):1685-94.

4: Ervasti, J.M., Campbell, K.P. *l* 1991 Membrane organization of the dystrophinglycoprotein complex. *Cell 66(6):1121-31*. 5: Montanaro, F., Lindenbaum, M., Carbonetto, S. 1999. Alpha-Dystroglycan is a laminin receptor involved in extracellular matrix assembly on myotubes and muscle cell viability. *J. Cell Biol.* 145(6):1325-40

6: Peng, H.B., Xie, H., Rossi, S.G., Rotundo, R.L. 1999. Acetylcholinesterase clustering at the neuromuscular junction involves perlecan and dystroglycan. *J.Cell Biol.* 145(4):911-21.

7: Yang, B., Jung, D., Rafael, J.A., Chamberlain, J.S., Campbell, K.P. 1995 Identification of alpha-syntrophin binding to syntrophin triplet, dystrophin, and utrophin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270(10):4975-8.

10: Brenman, J.E., Chao, D.S., Xia, H., Aldape, K., Bredt, D.S. 1995. Nitric oxide synthase complexed with dystrophin and absent from skeletal muscle sarcolemma in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cell* 82(5):743-52.

11: Chan, Y.M., Bonnemann, C.G., Lidov, H.G.W., Kunkel, L.M. 1998. Molecular organization of sarcoglycan complex in mouse myotubes in culture. *J. Cell Biol.* 143(7):2033-44.

12: Yoshida, M., Hama, H., Ishikawa-Sakurai, M., Imamura, M., Mizuno, Y., Araishi, K., Wakabayashi-Takai, E., Noguchi, S., Sasaoka, T., Ozawa, E. 2000. Biochemical evidence for association of dystrobrevin with the sarcoglycan-sarcospan complex as a basis for understanding sarcoglycanopathy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9(7):1033-40.

13: Cohen, M.W., Jacobson, C., Godfrey, E.W., Campbell, K.P., Carbonetto, S. 1995.
Distribution of alpha-dystroglycan during embryonic nerve-muscle synaptogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 129(4):1093-101 14: Gee, S.H., Montanaro, F., Lindenbaum, M.H., Carbonetto, S. 1994. Dystroglycanalpha, a dystrophin-associated glycoprotein, is a functional agrin receptor. *Cell* 77(5):675-86.

15: Gee, S.H, Blacher, R.W., Douville, P.J., Provost, P.R., Yurchenco, P.D., Carbonetto, S. 1993. Laminin-binding protein 120 from brain is closely related to the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein, dystroglycan, and binds with high affinity to the major heparin binding domain of laminin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268(20):14972-80

16: James, M., Man, N.T., Wise, C.J., Jones, G.E., Morris, G.E. 1996 Utrophindystroglycan complex in membranes of adherent culture cells. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 23:163-174.

17: Gautam, M., Noakes, P.G., Moscoso, L., Rupp, F., Scheller, R.H. 1996 Defective neuromuscular synaptogenesis in agrin deficient mutant mice. *Cell* 85:525-35.

18: Glass, D.J., Bowen, D.C., Stitt, T.N., Radziejewski, C., Bruno, J., Ryan, T.E., Gies, D.R., Shah, S., Mattsson, K., Burden, S.J., DiStefano, P.S., Valenzuela, D.M., DeChiara, T.M., Yancopoulos, G.D. 1996. Agrin acts via a MuSK receptor complex. *Cell* 85(4):513-23.

19: Dechiara, T.M., Bowen, D.C., Valenzuela, D.M., Simmons, M.V., Poueymirou, W.T. 1996. The receptor tyrosine kinase MuSK is required for neuromuscular junction formation in vivo. *Cell* 85:501-12.

20: Deconinck, A.E., Potter, A.C., Tinsley, J.M., Wood, S.J., Vater, R., Young, C., Metzinger, L., Vincent, A., Slater, C.R., Davies, K.E. 1997 Postsynaptic abnormalities at the neuromuscular junctions of utrophin-deficient mice. *J. Cell Biol.* 136(4):883-94.

21: Zhou, H., Glass, D.J., Yancopoulos, G.D., Sanes, J.R. 1999. Distinct domains of MuSK mediate its abilities to induce and to associate with postsynaptic specializations. *J. Cell Biol.* 146(5):1133-46.

22: Glass, D. J., Apel, E. D., Shah, S., Bowen, D. C., DeChiara, T. M., Stitt, T. N., Sanes, J. R., Yancopoulos, G. D. 1997. Kinase domain of the muscle-specific receptor tyrosine kinase (MuSK) is sufficient for phosphorylation but not clustering of acetylcholine receptors: required role for the MuSK ectodomain? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94 16:8848-53.

23: Jacobson, C., Montanaro, F., Lindenbaum, M., Carbonetto, S., Ferns, M. 1998 alpha-Dystroglycan functions in acetylcholine receptor aggregation but is not a coreceptor for agrin-MuSK signaling. *J Neurosci 18(16):6340-8*.

24: Grady, R.M., Zhou, H., Cunningham, J.M., Henry, M.D., Campbell, K.P., Sanes, J.R. 2000. Maturation and maintenance of the neuromuscular synapse: genetic evidence for roles of the dystrophin--glycoprotein complex. *Neuron* 20:279-93.

25: Jacobson, C., Cote, P., Rossi, S., Rotundo, R.L., Carbonetto, S. 2001. The dystroglycan complex is necessary for stabilization of acetylcholine receptor clusters at neuromuscular junctions and formation of the synaptic basement membrane. *J. Cell Biol. 152(3):435-450*

26: Matsumura, K., Yamada, H., Shimizu, T., Campbell, K.P. *1993* Differential expression of dystrophin, utrophin and dystrophin-associated proteins in peripheral nerve. *FEBS Lett 334(3):281-5*.

27: Saito, F., Masaki, T., Kamakura, K., Anderson, L.V.B., Fujita, S., Fukuta-Ohi, H., Sunada, Y., Shimizu, T., Matsumura, K. 1999. Characterization of the transmembrane

molecular architecture of the dystroglycan complex in Schwann cells. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 12:8240-8246.

28: Yamada, H., Denzer, A.J., Hori, H., Tanaka, T., Anderson, L.V., Fujita, S., Fukuta-Ohi, H., Shimizu, T., Ruegg, M.A., Matsumura, K. 1996. Dystroglycan is a dual receptor for agrin and laminin-2 in Schwann cell membrane. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271(38):23418-23.

29: Rambukkana, A., Salzer, J., Yurchenco, L., Tuomanen, P.D. 2000. Neural targeting of Mycobacterium leprae mediated by the G domain of the laminin-alpha2 chain. *Science* 88: 6: 811-21.

30: Rambukkana, A., Yamada, H., Zanazzi, G., Mathus, T., Salzer, J.L., Yurchenco, P.D., Campbell, K.P., Fischetti, V.A. 1998 Role of alpha-dystroglycan as a Schwann cell receptor for Mycobacterium leprae. *Science 282(5396):2076-9*.

31: Tian, M., Jacobson, C., Gee, S.H., Campbell, K.P., Carbonetto, S., Jucker, M. 1996 Dystroglycan in the cerebellum is a laminin alpha 2-chain binding protein at the glialvascular interface and is expressed in Purkinje cells. *Eur J Neurosci.* 8(12):2739-47.

32: Cartaud, A., Coutant, S., Petrucci, T.C., Cartaud, J. 1998. Evidence for in situ and in vitro association between beta-dystroglycan and the subsynaptic 43K rapsyn protein. Consequence for acetylcholine receptor clustering at the synapse. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273(18):11321-6

33: Yang, B., Jung, D., Motto, D., Meyer, J., Koretzky, G., Campbell, K.P. 1995. SH3 domain mediated interaction of dystroglycan and Grb2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270 (20) 11711-11714.

34: Blake, D.J., Hawkes, R., Benson, M.A., Beesley, P.W. 1999 Different dystrophin-like complexes are expressed in neurons and glia. *J. Cell Biol.* 147(3):645-58.

35: Blake, D.J., Davis, K.E. 1997. Dystrophin and the molecular genetics of muscular dystrophin. In protein Dysfunction and Humangenetic Disease. D.M. Swallow and Y.E.Edwards, editors, BIOS Scientific Publishers, Oxford, UK. 219-241

36: Lim, L.E., Campbell, K.P. 1998. The sarcoglycan complex in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 11, 443-452

37: Duclos, F., Straub, V., Moore, S.A., Venzke, D.P., Hrstka, R.F., Crosbie, R.H., Durbeej, M., Lebakken, C.S., Ettinger, A.J., van der Meulen, J., Holt, K.H., Lim, L.E., Sanes, J.R., Davidson, B.L., Faulkner, J.A., Williamson, R., Campbell, K.P. 1998 Progressive muscular dystrophy in alpha-sarcoglycan-deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. 142(6):1461-71

38: Araishi, K., Sasaoka, T., Imamura, M., Noguchi, S., Hama, H., Wakabayashi, E., Yoshida, M., Hori, T., Ozawa, E. 1999. Loss of the sarcoglycan complex and sarcospan leads to muscular dystrophy in beta-sarcoglycan-deficient mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 8(9):1589-98

39: Hack, A.A., Ly, C.T., Jiang, F., Clendenin, C.J., Sigrist, K.S., Wollmann, R.L., McNally, E.M. 1998. Gamma-sarcoglycan deficiency leads to muscle membrane defects and apoptosis independent of dystrophin. *J. Cell Biol.* 142(5):1279-87

40: Lidov, H.G., Byers, T.J., Watkins, S.C., Kunkel, L.M. 1990. Localization of dystrophin to postsynaptic regions of central nervous system cortical neurons. *Nature* 348(6303):725-8

41: Luo, J.H., Wang, Y.H., Yasuda, R.P., Dunah, A.W., Wolfe, B.B. 1997. The majority of N-Methyl-D- Aspartate receptor Complexes in Adult Rat Cerebral Cortex Contain at least Three Different Subunits (NR1/NR2A/NR2B). *Molecular Pharmacology* 51:79-86

42: Carlin, R.K., Grab, D.J., Cohen, R.S., Siekevitz, P. 1980. Isolation and characterization of postsynaptic densities from various brain regions: enrichment of different types of postsynaptic densities. *J. Cell Biol.* 86(3):831-45

43: Cho, K.O., Hunt, C.A., Kennedy, M.B. 1992. The rat brain postsynaptic density fraction contains a homolog of the Drosophila discs-large tumor suppressor protein. *Neuron 9(5):929-42*

44: Imamura, M., Ozawa, E. 1998. Differential expression of dystrophin isoforms and utrophin during dibutyryl-cAMP-induced morphological differentiation of rat brain astrocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95(11):6139-44

45: Mummery, R., Sessay, A., Lai, F.A., Beesley, P.W. 1996. Beta-dystroglycan: subcellular localisation in rat brain and detection of a novel immunologically related, postsynaptic density-enriched protein. *J of Neurochem* 66(6):2455-9

46: Blake, D.J., Kroger, S. 2000. The neurobiology of duchenne muscular dystrophy: learning lessons from muscle? *Trends Neurosci 23(3):92-9*

47: Durbeej, M., Henry, M.D., Campbell, K.P. 1999. Dystroglycan in development and disease. *Curr Opin Cell Biol 10: 5: 594-601*

48: Kong, J., Anderson, J.E. 1999. Dystrophin is required for organizing large acetylcholine receptor aggregates. *Brain Res* 839(2):298-304

49: Durbeej, M., Henry, M.D., Ferletta, M., Campbell, K.P., Ekblom, P. 1998. Distribution of dystroglycan in normal adult mouse tissue. *J Histochem Cytochem* 46(4):449-57

50: Ahn, A.H., Froener, C.A., Gussoni, E., Yoshida, M., Ozawa, E., Kunkel, L.M. 1996. The three human syntrophin genes are expressed in diverse tissues, have distinct chromosomal locations, and each bind to dystrophin and its relatives. J. Biol. Chem. 271(5):2724-30

51: Suzuki, A., Yoshida, M., Ozawa, E. 1995. Mammalian alpha 1- and beta 1-syntrophin bind to the alternative splice-prone region of the dystrophin COOH terminus. *J. Cell Biol. 128(3):373-81*

52: Ervasti, J.M., Compbell, K.P. 1991. Purification of dystrophin from skeletal muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 266(14):9161-5

53: Rao, A., Craig, A.M. 1997. Activity regulates the synaptic localization of the NMDA receptor in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 19(4):801-12

54: Rao, A., Kim, E., Sheng, M., Craig, A.M. 1998. Heterogeneity in the molecular composition of excitatory postsynaptic sites during development of hippocampal neurons in culture. *J. of Neurosci.* 18(4):1217-29

55: Craig, A.M., Blackstone, C.D., Huganir, R.L., Banker, G. 1993. The distribution of glutamate receptors in cultured rat hippocampal neurons: postsynaptic clustering of AMPA-selective subunits. *Neuron* 10(6):1055-68

56: Hemler, E.M. 1999. Dystroglycan Versatility. Cell 97 543-546

57: Imamura, M., Ozawa, E. 1998. Differential expression of dystrophin isoforms and utrophin during dibutyryl-cAMP-induced morphological differentiation of rat brain astrocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95: 6139-6144*

58: Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Milatovich. A., Ozcelik. T., Yang, B., Koepnick, K., Francke, U., Campbell, K.P. 1993. Human dystroglycan: skeletal muscle cDNA, genomic structure, origin of tissue specific isoforms and chromosomal localization. *Hum.*. *Mol. Genet. 2, 1651-1657.*

59: Yoshida, M., Suzuki, A., Yamamoto, H., Noguchi, S., Mizuno, Y., Ozawa, E. 1994. Dissociation of the complex of dystrophin and its associated proteins into several unique groups by n-octyl-β-D-glucoside. *Eur. J. Biochem. 222*

60: Williamson, R.A., Henry, M.D., Daniels, K.J., Hrstka, R.F., Lee, J.C., Sunada, Y., Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Campbell, K.P. 1997. Dystroglycan is essential for early embryonic development: disruption of Reichert's membrane in Dag1-null mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 6(6):831-41

61: Bowe, M.A., Deyst, K.A., Leszyk, J.D., Fallon, J.R. 1994. Identification and purification of an agrin receptor from Torpedo postsynaptic membranes: a heteromeric complex related to the dystroglycans. *Neuron* 12(5):1173-80

62: Ervasti, J.M., Campbell, K.P. 1993.Dystrophin and the membrane skeleton. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 5(1):82-7

63: Jung, D., Yang, B., Meyer, J., Chamberlain, J.S., Campbell, K.P. 1995. Identification and characterization of the dystrophin anchoring site on beta-dystroglycan. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270(45):27305-10

64: Rosa, G., Ceccarini, M., Cavaldesi, M., Zini, M., Petrucci, T.C. 1996. Localization of the dystrophin binding site at the carboxyl terminus of beta-dystroglycan. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 223(2):272-7*

65: Cavaldesi, M., Macchia, G., Barca, S., Defilippi, P., Tarone, G., Petrucci, T.C. 1999. Association of the Dystroglycan Complex Isolated from Bovine Brain Synaptosomes with Proteins Involved in Signal Transduction. *J. Neurochem.* 72:1648-1655 66: Keshet, G.I., Bar-Peled, O., Yaffe, D., Nudel, U., Gabizon, R. 2000. The Cellular Prion Protein Colocalizes with Dystroglycan Complex in the Brain. *J. Neurochem* 75, 1889-1897

67: Holt, K.H., Rachelle, H., Crosbie, Venzke, D.P., Campbell, K.P. 2000. Biosynthesis of dystroglycan: processing of a precursor propeptide. *FEBS.Lett* 468 79-83

68: Hillier, B.J., Christopherson, K.S., Prehoda, K.E., Bredt, D.S., Lim, W.A. 1999. Unexpected modes of PDZ domain scaffolding revealed by structure of nNOS-syntrophin complex. *Science 284(5415):812-5*

69: Moukhles, H., Roque, R., Carbonetto, S. 2000. alpha-dystroglycan isoforms are differentially distributed in adult rat retina. *J Comp Neurol* 420(2):182-94

70: Sugita, S., Saito, F., Tang, J., Satz, J., Campbell, K., Sudhof, T.C. 2001. A stoichiometric complex of neurexins and dystroglycan in brain. *J.Cell Biol.* 154(2):435-445

71: Cote, P.D., Moukhles, H., Lindenbaum, M., Carbonetto, S. 1999. Chimaeric mice deficient in dystroglycans develop muscular dystrophy and have disrupted myoneural synapses. *Nat Genet* 23(3):338-42

72: Levi, S., Grady, R.M., Fritschy, J.M., Sanes, J.R., Craig, A.M.. 2000. Developmental analysis of the accumultion of α - and β -dystroglycan at inhibitory synapses in the hippocampus and spinal cord. *Ann. Neurosci. Meeting Abstr.*

73: Laemmli, U.K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature 227:680-685*.

74: Belkin, A.M., Smalheiser, N.R. 1996. Localization of cranin (dystroglycan) at sites of cell-matrix and cell-cell contact: recruitment to focal adhesion is dependent upon extracellular ligands. *Cell Adhes Commun* 4(4-5):281-296

75: Cote, P.D., Moukhles, H., Carbonetto, S. 2002. Dystroglycan is not required for localization of dystrophin, syntrophin and neuronal nitric oxide synthase at the sarcolemma but regulates expression of integrin alpha 7B and caveolin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277(7):4672-4679

76: Moukhles, H., and Carbonetto, S. 2001. Dystroglycan contributes to the formation of multiple dystrophin-like complexex in brain. *J. Neurochem.* 78:824-834.

Figure 1: Specificity of the polyclonal antiserum for β -dystroglycan. Total brain homogenates were subjected to SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose and probed with A: polyclonal anti β -dystroglycan, B: monoclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibody (Novocastra). Both antibodies recognize a major band at about 43 kDa (molecular weight markers are on the left). A lower band is also recognised by antibodies in both A and B, that may be breakdown products of β -DG. The lane C was probed with only the secondary HRP conjugated goat-anti rabbit antiserum.





Figure 2:Immunocytochemistry of hippocampal neurons (10 days) in culture. Neurons were stained by antibodies to A: anti-MAP2 antibody, B: anti-MAP2 antibody, and C: polyclonal anti β -dystroglycan antibody. Note that in B and C, the neurons are double labeled with MAP2 and β -dystroglycan. The arrowheads point to the puncta present in β -dystroglycan positively staining processes (C), which are MAP2 negatively stained (B).



Figure 2

Figure 3: Immunocytochemistry of hippocampal neurons (3 weeks) in culture. Neurons were stained with synaptophysin and β -dystroglycan antiserum. The arrowhead and arrow (Top) show clustered synaptophysin staining. The arrow and arrowhead (Bottow) indicate clusters of β -DG.



Synaptophysin



β-DG

Figure 3

Figure 4: Immunoaffinity purification of β -dystroglycan. Equivalent amounts of eluate from antibody affinity column (β -DG Ab) that is 1/10th of the total eluates, normal rabbit IgG column (NRIgG), BSA column (BSA), and 1/25 of hippocampal homogenates (H.H.) were loaded onto the gel, subject to SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose and probed with monoclonal anti β -DG antibody (Novocastra). The signal for β -DG in the antibody affinity column eluate is greatly enriched when compared with those in other lanes, and there is no signal (β -dystroglycan) present in NRIgG and BSA column eluates.





Figure 5: α -dystroglycan interacts with β -dystroglycan in hippocampus. Equivalent amounts of protein eluted from anti β -DG antibody affinity column (β -DG Ab), BSA column (BSA) and 1/20th of hippocampal homogenates (H.H.) were loaded onto the gel, subjected to SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose and probed with monoclonal anti α -dystroglycan antibody. Note that α -dystrgolycan signal is greatly enriched in the β -DG antibody column eluate when compared with other eluate, and there are no signals present in BSA column eluate. The molecular weight marker is on the right.





Figure 5

Figure 6.1: Dystrophin is not associated with β -dystroglycan in hippocampus. Lane A: eluate from BSA column. Lane B: eluate from anti β -dystroglycan affinity column. Lane C: starting material of hippocampal homogenate. The loaded amount in Lane A and B are equivalent. All lanes were subject to SDS-PAGE and probed with polyclonal anti-dystrophin antibody. The molecular weight markers are on the left, and the name of the proteins identified by this antibody in the hippocampal homogenate (pre-loading material) are on the right. Note that no dystrophins are detected in the β -DG antibody affinity column (B) and BSA column (A), but there are 4 dystrophin isoforms present in the hippocampal homogenates (C).

Figure 6.2: Utrophin is not associated with β -dystroglycan in hippocampus. All lanes were probed with anti utrophin antibody. Lane A: eluate from BSA column. Lane B: eluate from anti-dystoglycan antibody affinity column. lane C: hippocampal homogenate (pre-loading material). Molecular weight marker is on the left. Note that there is no utrophin signal in both anti β -DG antibody affinity column and BSA column, but a utrophin signal is present in the starting materials.



Figure 6.1

212-116-97-66-

В

С

А

Figure 6.2

Figure 7: Identification of a new DPC in Brain. Equivalent amounts of eluate from anti β -DG antibody affinity column (β -DG antibody), normal rabbit IgG column (NRIgG), BSA column (BSA), and 2 µg of hippocampal homogenates (H.H.) were loaded, and subjected to SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie blue. The molecular weight markers are shown. Arrowheads indicate bands seen only in β -DG antibody affinity column, but not in NRIgG and BSA, and those bands were cut out and sent for sequencing. Note that the band arround 100 kDa is the most prominent one. The antibody heavy chains (55kD) were seen in both β -DG antibody affinity column eluate and NRIgG eluate. Also the 43 kD β -dystroglycan band is apparent in β -DG antibody affinity column eluate.


ł

ł

ł

ł

ł

ł

Į.

ł

ł

Figure 7